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SPECIAL NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

Certain statements in this Report under the captitam 7, "Management's Discussion and Analysisimdncial Condition and Results of
Operations," Iltem 1, "Business", Iltem 3, "Legald@®dings" and elsewhere in this Report constitigievard-looking statements" within the
meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Refokat of 1995 (the "Reform Act"). Such forward-lookj statements involve known and
unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors tviniay cause the actual results, performance oegefents of Halsey Drug Co., Inc.
("Halsey" or the "Company"), or industry resultsbie materially different from any future resufieyformance, or achievements expressed or
implied by such forward-looking statements. Sudldes include, among others, the following: changageneral economic and business
conditions; loss of market share through competitiotroduction of competing products by other camigs; the timing of regulatory
approval and the introduction of new products ey @mmpany; changes in industry capacity; pressugices from competition or from
purchasers of the Company's products; regulatcsmgés in the generic pharmaceutical manufactunidgsitry; difficulties encountered in t
development of novel product synthesis and manuifsagt techniques; regulatory obstacles to the duotion of new technologies or prodi
that are important to the Company's growth; avditgtof qualified personnel; the loss of any sificant customers; and other factors both
referenced and not referenced in this Report. Wisexd in this Report, the words "estimate," "proje@nticipate,” "expect," “intend,"
"believe," and similar expressions are intendeid¢ntify forward-looking statements.
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PART |
ITEM 1. BUSINESS.
GENERAL

The Company, a New York corporation establishet9i®5, and its subsidiaries, are engaged in thelal@went, manufacture, sale and
distribution of generic drugs and active pharmacauingredients ("API"s). A generic drug is thesafical and therapeutic equivalent of a
brand-name drug for which patent protection hasresipA generic drug may only be manufactured aoid & patents (and any additional
government-granted exclusivity periods) relatinghte brand-name equivalent of the generic drug leapé&ed. A generic drug is usually
marketed under its generic chemical name or untbeared name developed by the generic manufacflineough its strategic alliance with
Watson Pharmaceuticals, as described below, thep@oyrsells its generic drug products under the Bvatame for distribution by Watson
to drugstore chains and drug wholesalers. Whilgestito the same governmental standards for safedyefficacy as its brand-name
equivalent, a generic drug is usually sold at egsubstantially below that of its brand-name eajeint.

APIs, also known as bulk chemical products, arel irs¢he development and manufacture of finisheshde pharmaceutical products. The
development and sale of APIs generally is not sultgethe same level of regulation as is the dgyakent and sale of finished dosage
products. As a result, APIs may be brought to naskbstantially sooner than finished dosage praduct

The Company manufactures its products at faciliiedew York and Indiana. During the last severdng, the Company has sought to
diversify its businesses through strategic acqaistand alliances and through the developmentneamblfacture of APIs used by others as
raw materials in the manufacture of finished droigrfs. In this regard, the Company has acquirecuska licenses to novel synthesis
technologies which the Company expects to devehtopuge in the manufacture of APIs intended foringmin management products.

RECENT EVENTS
Licensed Synthesis Technologies

On August 2, 2000, Halsey acquired an exclusivenke to a patented technology for the efficientufesture of codeine-based APIs used in
pain management pharmaceuticals products (the 'l@®de&chnology"). The Codeine Technology was aeglirom Biofine
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. ("Biofine") and was develojecbllaboration with the University of Nevada,ri®e(the "University").

The license agreement with Biofine grants Halseghesive rights to the Codeine Technology in Nortinéica for twenty years, after which
time Halsey will have a fully paid, non-exclusiveanse. The Codeine Technology license agreemehefuprovides for milestone payments
in the aggregate amount of up to $2,675,000 tiddeatisey's receipt of required approvals and reisins from the U.S. Drug Enforcement
Administration ("DEA"), the execution of acceptabésv material supply contracts and the launch oflpcts developed with the Codeine
Technology. In addition, Biofine and the Universdtie to receive an aggregate royalty of up to figecent (5%) on net sales of APIs
synthesized using the Codeine Technology.

On February 21, 2001, Halsey acquired an exclugiease to a technology providing for an efficiésdlation of thebaine from raw poppy.
The primary derivative of thebaine is oxycodoneA#&1 used in pain management pharmaceutical predtine "Thebaine Technology" and
collectively with the Codeine Technology, the "Lised Technologies"). The Thebaine Technology, fuckva provisional patent applicati
has been filed with the U.S. Patent and Trademf{iike) was acquired from Robert C. Corcoran ("Coaet)) and Biofine. The license
agreement relating to the Thebaine Technology grdatsey exclusive world-wide rights in the tectogyl for twenty years, after which time
Halsey will have a fully paid, non-exclusive licenghe Thebaine Technology license agreement peevitat Corcoran and Biofine are to
receive an aggregate royalty of up to six percé¥i)(on net sales of APIs synthesized using the dineblechnology.

3



Each of the Licensed Technologies are novel presaistended to be more efficient and cost effeatiethods of deriving APIs to be used in
the manufacture of finished dosage pain managepredticts by substantially reducing the time angsstequired to produce the desired
API. In the case of the Codeine Technology, twaptt covering the synthesis processes have bagdigsthe United States and, to date,
this technology has been successfully demonstratddr laboratory conditions. With respect to the@dine Technology, it is the Company's
intention to file a definitive patent applicationtiwthe U.S. Patent and Trademark Office prioh® dne year anniversary of the date of filing
of the provisional patent application by Corconsln.assurance can be given that a patent will issute Thebaine Technology. Currently,
the Thebaine Technology is in the process of btsated under laboratory conditions.

The acquisition of the Licensed Technologies furttemonstrates the Company's continuing effortietelop and manufacture APls with an
emphasis on pain management products. The Comptimyates that the market for pain management ptsdnd¢he United States is
approximately $2 billion and is growing at approziely 20% per year. In addition to its developmedfarts relating to the Licensed
Technologies, the Company is a party to agreenvaititsWWatson Pharmaceuticals (see "Recent Ever8fategic Alliance with Watson
Pharmaceuticals" below) providing for Watson's righnegotiate for a supply of select APIs curngimldevelopment and to be developed by
the Company. It is the Company's intention to cardiits focus on pain management products by dpieAPIs incorporating the Licensed
Technologies and other technologies developednaligrby the Company or licensed from third part®sch development efforts may be
performed solely by the Company or in partnership third-party manufacturers. It is the Compargkpectation to use such APlIs in the
Company's own manufacture and sale of finishedgipharmaceutical products as well as to sell 8drlls to third parties.

The development, marketing and sale of pain manageproducts incorporating the Licensed Technobgiesubject to extensive regulation
by the DEA and the U.S. Food and Drug Administrafd=-DA"). At present, the Company's API manufaitgrfacility located in Culver,
Indiana is approved to manufacture Schedul&ltientrolled substances. In order to continue #hetbpment and eventual commercializa
of the Licensed Technologies, the Company willdauired to obtain an amendment to its existing rfeturing registration and to obtain a
raw material import registration from the DEA. TBempany has filed an amendment to the CompanyssirxiSchedule 111-N
manufacturing registration with the DEA to pernhi¢tCompany to manufacture Schedule Il to V corgtbfubstances. In addition, the
Company has started the application process wtlbtBA seeking approval to import raw poppy diredtym India and Turkey to be used in
the Company's API development and manufacturingytstf At present, only two manufacturers in thetelahiStates possess such import
registrations.

In order for the Company to receive the requestednaiment to its existing Schedule 11I-N manufactgniegistration, the Company has
commenced the necessary security and related iraprents to its Culver, Indiana manufacturing facilas of December 31, 2000 the
Company had expended $100,000 on such capital ireprents and has budgeted an additional $250,000mplete the necessary
improvements.

As part of the DEA's analysis as to whether theasse of an import registration to the Companyprapriate, the DEA will consider, amc
other things, whether adequate security safegumardsontrols exist at the Company's Culver, Indfandity and at all points in the chain of
transfer of the raw poppy from suppliers in India & urkey to the Company's Culver facility, whetttex Licensed Technologies are viable
and efficient processes, whether market demangdior management products supports the approvailathar import source, and whether
Company has established itself as an eligible garspurce and obtain raw poppy supplies from fpreiources. The Company is currently
making the necessary upgrades to its Culver, ladiadility and establishing points of supply ind@n markets to meet these DEA
requirements.

The Company anticipates that the existing manufatsypossessing import registrations will challeagg proposed issuance by the DEA of
an import registration to the Company. In such gvemearing on the merits of the DEA issuancenafrgport registration to the Company
will be held before an administrative law judge el ruling of the administrative law judge will beviewed by the DEA Administrator. The
Company estimates that if successful, of whichssueance can be given at this time, it will recéise
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Schedule Il to V manufacturing registration in fbarth quarter of 2001 (permitting it to manufae@chedule Il to V controlled substances
and related APIs with raw materials sourced fromdtparties in the U.S.) and receive its importisggtion in the first quarter of 2004.

The development and commercialization of APIs anidlied dosage products incorporating the Licefsahnologies are subject to various
factors, many of which are outside the Company'grob Specifically, the Licensed Technologies hheen tested only in laboratory or
controlled pilot study settings and will need toduecessfully "scaled up” in order to be commelscidhble, of which no assurance can be
given. Additionally, the Company must satisfy, aehtinue to maintain compliance with, the DEA'suiegments for issuance of a Schedule
Il to V controlled substance manufacturing registraand import registration. Even assuming the Gany can satisfy the DEA's
requirements in this regard, no assurance canvea giat the Company will prevail in any oppositimoceeding anticipated to be brought by
current manufacturers holding import registratilmprevent the issuance by the DEA of an imporistegfion to the Company. The process
of seeking a DEA import registration and contesting opposition proceeding, as well as the contipaievelopment of the Licensed
Technologies, will continue through 2004. Althoufke Company believes it has sufficient working tafb fund operations for the next 12
months, the Company's cash flow and limited souo€ewailable financing make it uncertain that @@mpany will have sufficient capital to
complete the development of the Licensed Technetgibtain required DEA approvals and fund thetahjphprovements necessary for the
manufacture of APl and finished dosage productsrpparating the Licensed Technologies.

Strategic Alliance with Watson Pharmaceuticals

On March 29, 2000, the Company completed variaagegic alliance transactions with Watson Pharmigeads, Inc. ("Watson"). The
transactions with Watson provided for Watson's pase of the Company's then pending ANDA for doxliogccapsules USP, 50 mg and
100mg (the "doxycycline ANDA"), for Watson's rightsnegotiate for Halsey to manufacture and suppiyain identified future products to
be developed by Halsey, for Watson's marketingsatel of the Company's core products and for Watsadension of a $17,500,000 term
loan to the Company.

The product acquisition portion of the transactiaith Watson provided for Halsey's sale of the pegdloxycycline ANDA and related
rights (the "Product") to Watson for aggregate atgration of $13,500,000 (the "Product Acquisitidgreement"). Five million dollars of the
purchase price for the Product was paid to the Gomjn May 2000 following the receipt of FDA appabwf the doxycycline ANDA. Of the
remaining $8.5 million, $5 million is payable withBO days of Halsey's receipt of FDA approval logate manufacturing of the Product
from its Brooklyn, New York facility to its Congerslew York facility, provided such approval is raes by May 1, 2001, and the remaining
$3.5 million is payable within 10 days of Watsamseipt of notice from the FDA that Halsey is aprwed source of the API for the Prodi
provided such notice is received by July 1, 208iéw of prevailing market conditions for the Puotl Watson has delayed obtaining FDA
approval of Halsey as an approved source of theb&Phas indicated to the Company that the finab $3illion payment will be made by Ju
10, 2001. As part of the execution of the Produmjisition Agreement, the Company and Watson exelcien year supply agreements
covering the API and finished dosage form of thedact pursuant to which Halsey, at Watson's dismretvill manufacture and supply
Watson's requirements for the Product API and, e/itlee Product API is sourced from the Companysfirdosage forms of the Product.

The Company and Watson also executed a rightsifrfiggotiation agreement providing Watson withrst fight to negotiate the terms under
which the Company would manufacture and supplyagegpecified APIs and finished dosage productsetdeveloped by the Company. The
right of first negotiation agreement provides thjpbn Watson's exercise of its right to negotiatdtie supply of a particular product, the
parties will negotiate the specific terms of thenofacturing and supply arrangement, including pna@imum purchase requirements, if a
territory and term. In the event Watson does net@se its right of first negotiation upon noticerh the Company, or in the event the parties
are unable to reach agreement on the material tefmsupply arrangement relating to such produtttimsixty (60) days of Watson's
exercise of its right to negotiate for such prodtlee Company may negotiate with third partiestifier supply, marketing
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and sale of the applicable product. The right it fihegotiation agreement has a term of ten ysalgect to extension in the absence of wr
notice from either party for two additional pericafsfive years each. The right of first negotiatemgreement applies only to API and finished
dosage products identified in the agreement and doeotherwise prohibit the Company from develgphiPls or finished dosage products
for itself or third parties.

The Company and Watson also executed a manufagtanid supply agreement providing for Watson's ntargeand sale of the Company's
existing core products portfolio (the "Core Produstipply Agreement"). The Core Products Supply Agrent obligates Watson to purchase
a minimum amount of approximately $18,363,000 (fd@mimum Purchase Agreement") in core products fithe Company, in equal
quarterly installments over a period of 18 monthg (Minimum Purchase Period"). Due to certain ditgrated raw material shortages, the
Company has been unable to supply Watson withcseiffi quantities to meet their purchase obligatidre Company and Watson are
currently discussing reducing Watson's purchasigatibn for the remaining nine month term of the€Broducts Supply Agreement during
which time adequate supplies of these raw matesir@®xpected to be available. See "ltem 7, ManagésDiscussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations gulidlity". At the expiration of the Minimum PurchaBeriod if Watson does not continue to
satisfy the Minimum Purchase Amount, the Company market and sell the core products on its owrhaough a third party. Pending the
Company's development and receipt of regulatoryayab for its APIs and finished dosage productgentty under development, and the
marketing and sale of same, of which there canob&ssurance, substantially all the Company's reagewill be derived from the Core
Products Supply Agreement with Watson.

The final component of the Company's strategiaadle with Watson provided for Watson's extensioa $17,500,000 term loan to the
Company. The loan is funded in installments upen@ompany's request for advances and the provisigvatson of a supporting use of
proceeds relating to each such advance. The laatiged by a first lien on all of the Company&sets senior to the lien securing all other
Company indebtedness, carries a floating ratetefést equal to prime plus two percent and matomedgarch 31, 2003. As of March 23,
2001, $13,000,000 had been advanced to the Compatey the Watson term loan. The net proceeds fhenterm loan have, in large part,
been used to upgrade and equip the APl manufagtéaaility of Houba, Inc. located in Culver, Indemrthe Company's wholly-owned
subsidiary, to upgrade and equip the Company's €snijlew York leased facilities, to satisfy appnoately $3,300,000 in bridge financing
provided by Galen Partners and for working capgdlnd continued operations. See "ltem 7. Manage's\®iscussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations"danore detailed discussion of the $17,500,000 team from Watson.

Cessation and Relocation of Brooklyn, New York Opetions

On March 22, 2000 the Company executed a Leaseifiation and Settlement Agreement with the landleirthe Company's Brooklyn, Ne
York manufacturing facility (the "Settlement Agreent"). The Settlement Agreement provides for théyg¢armination of the lease covering
the Brooklyn facility and provides the Company wiitle time necessary to transfer operations to timagainy's Congers, New York facilities
and cease all manufacturing, research and develudpne warehouse operations currently conduct&tanklyn. The Settlement Agreement
provides for the termination of the Brooklyn fatyillease on March 31, 2001. The original lease ipiexy/ for a term expiring December 31,
2005 with a rental payment obligation of $6,715,d0€ing the period from September 1, 2000 throughe®nber 31, 2005.

The Settlement Agreement provided for the Comparaysnent of a termination fee of $1,150,000, theaade payment of rent through
August 31, 2000 and the deposit of a restoratienoesof $200,000 to be used for facility repaireeTCompany also deposited $390,600 in
escrow with its counsel to cover rental paymenigte period September 1, 2000 through March 3@12The rent escrow amount was
released to the landlord on September 1, 2000 Chmepany recorded a total charge against earningpmbximately $3,273,000 resulting
from the elimination of its Brooklyn, New York ogions. See "ltem

7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Findi@adition and Results of Operations" for a moegadled discussion of this charge
against earnings.



As of March 23, 2001, all Brooklyn manufacturingeogtions have ceased and, except for a small ggbemployees performing final movi
and shutdown activities, all employees have beenitated.

Lease of Congers, New York Facility (Brenner Drivdocation)

Effective March 22, 1999, the Company leased, ksteoant, a pharmaceutical manufacturing facitisated in Congers, New York (the
"Brenner Drive Facility") from Par Pharmaceuticdis;. ("Par") pursuant to an Agreement to Lease (tiease"). The Brenner Drive Facility
contains office, warehouse and manufacturing spadds approximately 35,000 square feet. The Lpesades for a term of three years,
with a two year renewal option and provides foruairixed rent of $500,000 per year during the riynterm of the Lease and $600,000 per
year during the option period. The Lease also swertain manufacturing and related equipment pusly used by Par in its operations

the Brenner Drive Facility (the "Leased Equipmeniti)connection with the execution of the Lease,@ompany and Par entered into a
certain Option Agreement pursuant to which the Camypmay purchase the Brenner Drive Facility and #sse Equipment at any time
during the lease term for $5 million.

As part of the execution of the Lease, the CompartyPar entered into a certain Manufacturing amplyuAgreement (the "M&S
Agreement") having a minimum term of twenty sevemnths. The M&S Agreement provides for the Compaogtgract manufacture of
certain designated products manufactured by PlaedBrenner Drive Facility prior to the effectivatd of the Lease. The M&S Agreement
also provides that Par will purchase a minimumXfi$0,000 in product during the initial 18 montlishe Agreement. The M&S Agreement
further provides that the Company will not manufiaet supply, develop or distribute the designatediypcts to be supplied by the Company
to Par under the M&S Agreement to or for any ottenson for a period of three years.

Lease of Congers, New York Facility (Wells Avenueotation)

Effective July 1, 2000, the Company leased, astenlant, a facility located at 125 Wells Avenuen@ers, New York (the "Wells Avenue
Facility"). The Wells Avenue Facility contains affi, warehouse and manufacturing space and is dpmtety 18,000 square feet. The Lease
provides for a term of four years with an optioreaew for an additional three years and providesihnual fixed rent of approximately
$127,000 per year during the first two years oflthase and approximately $135,000 per year duhiaddst two years.

Acquisition of Product ANDASs

On April 16, 1999, the Company completed an actjoisagreement with Barr Laboratories, Inc. ("Baptoviding for the Company's
purchase of the rights to 50 pharmaceutical prad({ibe "Barr Products"). Under the terms of theu&ition agreement with Barr, the
Company acquired all of Barr's rights in the BanwdRicts, including all related governmental appteymcluding ANDAS) and related
technical data and information. In considerationtfie acquisition of the Barr Products, the Compiaayed to Barr a common stock purchase
warrant exercisable for 500,000 shares of the Cogipa@ommon stock having an exercise price of $5Qq&r share (the fair market value of
the Common Stock on the date of issuance) and avtarm of five years. The acquisition agreematit ®arr also allows Barr to purchase
any of the Barr Products manufactured by the Comfama period of five years.

The Barr Products acquired by the Company wereiquely marketed by Barr, prior to its decision tategically refocus its generic product
portfolio several years ago. While the Barr Prodwtiver a broad range of therapeutic applicatiodsaae the subject of approved ANDAs,
the Company will be required to obtain approvaifrihe FDA to permit manufacture and sale of anthefBarr Products, including site
specific approval. The Company initially has idéetl 8 of the products for which it will devote siéntial effort in seeking approval from
FDA for manufacture and sale. The Company estinthtgscertain of these Barr Product will be avdddbr sale in the fourth quarter of
2001, although no assurance can be given thatfaime @arr Products will receive FDA approval oatlif approved, that the Company will
be successful in the manufacture and sale of tte groducts. It is the Company's intention to amumito
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evaluate the remaining Barr Products on an ongo#sis to assess their prospects for commercializaiind likelihood of obtaining regulatc
approval.

PRODUCTS AND PRODUCT DEVELOPMENT
Generic Drug Products

The Company historically has manufactured and adicbad range of prescription and over-the-cowrigg products. The Company's
pharmaceutical product list currently includestaltof approximately 24 products, consisting ofdb8age forms and strengths of prescription
drugs and 6 dosage forms and strengths of ovecdbater drugs. Each dosage form and strength aftecplar drug is considered in the
industry to be a separate drug product. The Compalnyg products are sold in various forms, inalgdiquid and powder preparations,
compressed tablets and two-piece, hard-shelledizps

Most of the generic drug products manufacturechiey@Gompany can be classified within one of theofeihg categories:
1. Antibiotics,

2. Narcotic analgesics,

3. Anti-infective and anti-tubercular drugs,

4. Antihistamines and antihistaminic decongestants,

5. Antitussives, or

6. Steroids

During fiscal 2000, sales of antibiotics and nacahalgesics accounted for approximately 61% @l toet sales during such year. The
Company anticipates that sales of antibiotics ardatic analgesics will continue to represent aificant portion of the Company's revenue.

The Company's development strategy for new drudymis has been to focus on the development ofadbrange of generic form drugs,
each of which (i) has developed a solid market piecee with a wide base of customers, (ii) candi@ an a profitable basis notwithstanding
intense competition from other drug manufacturang (iii) is no longer under patent protection. TBmmpany has also diversified its current
product line to include some less widely prescribagdys as to which limited competition might be ested.

During the fiscal year ended December 31, 2000Ctm@pany received one ANDA approval consistinghef doxycycline ANDA sold to
Watson Pharmaceuticals. During fiscal 2001, the @amy anticipates the submission of 15 ANDA suppletsier amendments to the FDA.
The supplements and amendments relate to trarfseisting ANDAs from the Company's Brooklyn fatilito its Congers facility as well as
the transfer of certain ANDAs obtained from Barbbaatories. Although the Company has been sucdansfeceiving ANDA approvals
since its release from the FDA's Application IntggPolicy list in December 1996, there can be ssusance that any newly submitted
ANDAs, or supplements or amendments thereto orticostemplated to be submitted, will be approvethky=DA. The Company will not
be permitted to market any new product unless atitithe FDA approves the ANDA relating to such gwot. Failure to obtain FDA appro
for the Company's pending ANDASs, or a significaatay in submitting for or obtaining such approwabuld adversely affect the Company's
business operations and financial condition.

Development activities for each new generic drugfpct begin several years in advance of the patgiitation date of the brand-name drug
equivalent. This is because the profitability ofeav generic drug usually depends on the abilitthefCompany to obtain FDA approval to
market that drug product upon or immediately atterpatent expiration date of the equivalent braahe drug. Being among the first to
market a new generic drug product is vital to thaitability of the product. As other off-patentudy manufacturers receive FDA approvals on
competing generic products, prices and revenuésaiypdecline. Accordingly, the Company's abilityattain profitable operations will, in
large part, depend on its ability to develop arttbituce new products, the timing of receipt of FB@proval of such products and the number
and timing of FDA approvals for competing products.



While the Company will continue the developmenit®finished goods pharmaceutical business, inolydhe rehabilitation of the product
ANDAs acquired from Barr, the Companys will dedeaicreasing resources to the expansion and entmamc®f its operations devoted to
the development and manufacture of APIs for ughenCompany's finished dosage products as wetirasafe to third party pharmaceutical
companies, including Watson, in the form and ARl finished dosage products. See "Recent Eventigenked Synthesis Technologies".

Active Pharmaceutical Ingredients

As discussed above under the caption "Licensech8gigt Technologies”, in the last few years, the amg has increased its efforts to
develop and manufacture APIs, also known as butknital products. The development and sale of ABterglly is not subject to the same
level of regulation as is the development and shtfrug products. Accordingly, APIs may be broutghinarket substantially sooner than d
products. During fiscal 2000, all of the Compamgsenues were derived from the sale of finishecgdegroducts. It is the Company's
expectation that in connection with a strategimatte with Watson, the development of the Licenbechnologies and other API developrr
efforts, in addition to assisting in the expansiéthe Company's line of finished dosage produbes Company will generate revenues from
the sale of APIs starting in the latter part of 2@Md such revenue segment will likely increaseetifter as a percentage of total revenue.

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT

The Company currently conducts research and dewadnpactivities at each of its Congers, New Yor# @ulver, Indiana facilities. The
Company's research and development activities sopsimarily of new generic drug product developtrefiforts and manufacturing process
improvements, the development for sale of new chahpiroducts and the development of APIs. New gmagluct development activities are
primarily directed at conducting research studiedavelop generic drug formulations, reviewing #sting such formulations for therapeutic
equivalence to brand name products and additi@stihg in areas such as bioavailability, bioeq@mae and shelf-life. For fiscal years 2000,
1999 and 1998, total research and development dxpess were $1,821,000, $1,075,000 and $651,00€in® 2001, the Company's resee
and development efforts will cover finished dospgeducts and APIs in a variety of therapeutic aggtions, with an emphasis on pain
management products.

As of March 23, 2001, the Company maintained atfoike staff of 8 in its Research and Developmemdgnents.
MARKETING AND CUSTOMERS

The application of the FDA Application Integrity IRy list to the Company's operations until Decemb@96, combined with the Company's
continuing operating losses and lack of adequat&iwg capital during fiscal 1997 and the first geearof 1998 resulted in the Company's
inability to maintain sufficient raw materials afidish goods inventories to permit the Companydtivaly solicit customer orders, and when
orders were received, to fill such orders promg&gilowing the completion in March 1998 of the afifgy with Galen Partners (the "Galen
Offering"), new Management adopted a marketingesgiafocused on developing and maintaining suffickew materials and finish goods
inventories so as to permit a targeted sales dffothe Company to a core customer group, withraphasis on quality, prompt product
delivery and excellent customer service.

The strategic alliance with Watson entered intdvtamch 29, 2000 provides for the Company's core petslportfolio to be sold by Watson's
sales force under Watson's label. Accordingly,Gbenpany has discontinued its own sales effort@dé products. The Company continues
to perform limited contract manufacturing of cemtaon-core products for other pharmaceutical congsan

During 2000, 60% of the Company's total sales weMatson Pharmaceuticals pursuant to the Coreuete&upply Agreement between the
Company and Watson (See "Recent Events -- Stratdiignice with Watson Pharmaceuticals"). The Complelieves that the loss of this
customer would have a material



adverse effect on the Company. During 1999 the Gmyad net sales to two customers, aggregatingxipmately 25.3% of total sales.
During 1998, the Company had net sales to two ousts aggregating approximately 19% of total sales.

The estimated dollar amount of the backlog of ader future delivery as of March 23, 2001 was agpnately $4,000,000 as compared v
approximately $800,000 as of March 31, 2000. Algitothese orders are subject to cancellation, manegieexpects to fill substantially all
orders by the second and third quarter of 2001.ifitrease in the Company's backlog as of Marct2@81 compared to that in 2000 is
largely a function of an increase in market pertietnafrom marketing efforts by Watson as well atagled orders as a result of temporary
shortages of certain raw materials.

GOVERNMENT REGULATION
General

All pharmaceutical manufacturers, including the @amy, are subject to extensive regulation by tredeFa government, principally by the
FDA, and, to a lesser extent, by state and loce¢gonents. Additionally, the Company is subjectxtensive regulation by the U.S. Drug
Enforcement Agency ("DEA") as a manufacturer oftonlied substances. The Company cannot prediotttent to which it may be affected
by legislative and other regulatory developmentsceoning its products and the healthcare industnecrlly. The Federal Food, Drug, and
Cosmetic Act, the Generic Drug Enforcement Act @92, the Controlled Substance Act and other Fedéatiites and regulations govern or
influence the testing, manufacture, safe labeborage, record keeping, approval, pricing, adsiagi, promotion, sale and distribution of
pharmaceutical products. Noncompliance with applEaequirements can result in fines, recall oz of products, criminal proceedings,
total or partial suspension of production, and sefwf the government to enter into supply consgractto approve new drug applications. The
FDA also has the authority to revoke approvalsesf irug applications. The ANDA drug development apgroval process now averages
approximately eight months to two years. The aparpvocedures are generally costly and time consgmi

FDA approval is required before any "new drug," thlee prescription or over-thesunter, can be marketed. A "new drug" is one eokegally
recognized by qualified experts as safe and effedtr its intended use. Such general recognitiostrhe based on published adequate and
well controlled clinical investigations. No "newudy" may be introduced into commerce without FDArappl. A drug which is the "generic”
equivalent of a previously approved prescriptiomgdalso will require FDA approval. Furthermore, ledosage form of a specific generic
drug product requires separate approval by the RD&eneral, as discussed below, less costly amel tonsuming approval procedures may
be used for generic equivalents as compared tmtiowative products. Among the requirements foigdapproval is that the prospective
manufacturer's methods must conform to the CGMEBVIBs apply to the manufacture, receiving, holding shipping of all drugs, whether
or not approved by the FDA. CGMPs must be followedll times during which the drug is manufacturbd.ensure full compliance with
standards, some of which are set forth in reguiatithe Company must continue to expend time, maneyeffort in the areas of production
and quality control. Failure to so comply risksayed in approval of drugs, disqualification frompdility to sell to the government, and
possible FDA enforcement actions, such as an itjpmagainst shipment of the Company's productss#izure of noncomplying drug
products, and/or, in serious cases, criminal puasat. The Company's manufacturing facilities arbjsct to periodic inspection by the FDA.

In addition to the regulatory approval process,Gloenpany is subject to regulation under Federatesind local laws, including requirements
regarding occupational safety, laboratory practieesironmental protection and hazardous substemiciol, and may be subject to other
present and future local, state, Federal and fonedgulations, including possible future regulasiarfi the pharmaceutical industry.

Drug Approvals
There are currently three ways to obtain FDA apako¥ a new drug.

10



1. New Drug Applications ("NDA"). Unless one of theocedures discussed in paragraph 2 or 3 belawaigable, a prospective manufactt
must conduct and submit to the FDA complete clinstadies to prove a drug's safety and efficacyddition to the bioavailability and/or
bioequivalence studies discussed below, and msstsalbmit to the FDA information about manufactgnimactices, the chemical make-up of
the drug and labeling.

2. Abbreviated New Drug Applications ("ANDA"). Thgrug Price Competition and Patent Term Restoraticinof 1984 (the "1984 Act")
established the ANDA procedure for obtaining FDAmyal for those drugs that are off-patent or whessglusivity has expired and that are
bioequivalent to brand-name drugs. An ANDA is santlo an NDA, except that the FDA waives the reguient of conducting complete
clinical studies of safety and efficacy, althougay require expanded clinical bioavailability &rdbioequivalence studies. "Bioavailabilii
means the rate of absorption and levels of conatoitr of a drug in the blood stream needed to predutherapeutic effect. "Bioequivalence"
means equivalence in bioavailability between twagdoroducts. In general, an ANDA will be approvediyaupon a showing that the generic
drug covered by the ANDA is bioequivalent to thevpously approved version of the drug,

i.e., that the rate of absorption and the levelsoofcentration of a generic drug in the body alestantially equivalent to those of a previously
approved equivalent drug. The principle advantdghis approval mechanism is that an ANDA applicamniot required to conduct the same
preclinical and clinical studies to demonstrate tha product is safe and effective for its inteshdse.

The 1984 Act, in addition to establishing the ANPfocedure, created new statutory protections fprapd brand-name drugs. In general,
under the 1984 Act, approval of an ANDA for a génerug may not be made effective until all prodact use patents listed with the FDA
for the equivalent brand name drug have expirdtboe been determined to be invalid or unenforcedlile only exceptions are situations in
which the ANDA applicant successfully challenges alidity or absence of infringement of the patemd either the patent holder does not
file suit or litigation extends more than 30 mondfier notice of the challenge was received bypitent holder. Prior to enactment of the
1984 Act, the FDA gave no consideration to the miagéatus of a previously approved drug. Additibnainder the 1984 Act, if specific
criteria are met, the term of a product or usemtatevering a drug may be extended up to five yeaco®mpensate the patent holder for the
reduction of the effective market life of that pattdue to federal regulatory review. With respeatértain drugs not covered by patents, the
1984 Act sets specified time periods of two toytears during which approvals of ANDAs for generniags cannot become effective or, ur
certain circumstances, ANDAs cannot be filed if élygiivalent brand-name drug was approved after Dbee31, 1981.

3. "Paper" NDA. An alternative NDA procedure is yided by the 1984 Act whereby the applicant may ol published literature and more
limited testing requirements. While that alternatsometimes provides advantages over the ANDA poeg it is not frequently used.

Generic Drug Enforcement Act

As a result of hearings and investigations conoertlie activities of the generic drug industry a&melFDA's generic drug approval process,
Congress enacted the Generic Drug Enforcement fAt@@P (the "Generic Drug Act"). The Generic Drugt&onfers significant new
authority upon the FDA to impose debarment and pimalties for individuals and companies who cotrgaitain illegal acts relating to the
generic drug approval process.

The Generic Drug Act requires the mandatory debatrmiecompanies or individuals convicted of a feddelony for conduct relating to the
development or approval of any ANDA, and givesHDEA discretion to debar corporations or individutas similar conduct resulting in a
federal misdemeanor or state felony conviction. FBé& may not accept or review during the periodiebarment (one to ten years in the .
of mandatory, or up to five years in the case offgsive, debarment of a corporation) any ANDA sitted by or with the assistance of the
debarred corporation or individual. The GenericdpAct also provides for temporary denial of apptafageneric drug applications during
the investigation of crimes that
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could lead to debarment. In addition, in more laditircumstances, the Generic Drug Act providestispension of the marketing of drugs
under approved generic drug applications spondoyeadfected companies. The Generic Drug Act alswiges for fines and confers autho

on the FDA to withdraw, under certain circumstaneggproval of a previously granted ANDA if the FOiAds that the ANDA was obtained
through false or misleading statements.

Healthcare Reform

Several legislative proposals to address the risisgs of healthcare have been introduced in Cesgrad several state legislatures. Many of
such proposals include various insurance marketmef, the requirement that businesses providetheeltirance coverage for all their
employees, significant reductions in the growtliutfire Medicare and Medicaid expenditures, anthgémt government cost controls that
would directly control insurance premiums and iadity affect the fees of hospitals, physicians atietr healthcare providers. Such propo
could adversely affect the Company's businessrogng other things, reducing the demand, and tleegpaid, for pharmaceutical products
such as those produced and marketed by the Compdditionally, other developments, such as (i) ddeption of a nationalized health
insurance system or a single payor system, (iingha in needs-based medical assistance prograiii§), greater prevalence of capitated
reimbursement of healthcare providers, could aggfect the demand for the Company's products.

COMPETITION

The Company competes in varying degrees with nuasecompanies in the health care industry, includitgr manufacturers of generic
drugs (among which are divisions of several maf@rmaceutical companies) and manufacturers of bnante drugs. Many of the
Company's competitors have substantially greatanfiial and other resources and are able to expenel money and effort than the
Company in areas such as marketing and productajewent. Although a company with greater resouvgdisot necessarily receive FDA
approval for a particular generic drug before iitBer competitors, relatively large research aedetbpment expenditures enable a company
to support many FDA applications simultaneouslgréivy improving the likelihood of being among thrstfto obtain approval of at least
some generic drugs.

One of the principal competitive factors in the ggo pharmaceutical market is the ability to intiod generic versions of brand-name drugs
promptly after a patent expires. Other competitaeors in the generic pharmaceutical market aieepquality and customer service
(including maintenance of sufficient inventories fisnely deliveries).

RAW MATERIALS

The raw materials essential to the Company's bssiage APIs purchased from numerous sources. Rasviaig are generally available from
several sources. The Federal drug application peoxjuires specification of raw material supplifreaw materials from a supplier specif

in a drug application were to become unavailablemnmercially acceptable terms, FDA supplementpt@l of a new supplier would be
required. During 2000 and 1999, the Company puerthapproximately $1,485,000 and $1,107,000, resmdgetof its raw materials
(constituting 28% and 15%, respectively, of itsraggte purchases of raw materials) from Mallinckrédthough the Company is now able
submit supplements to the FDA in order to allow@wmpany to purchase raw materials from alternatieces, there can be no assurance tha
if the Company were unable to continue to purchlasematerials from this supplier, that the Compayld be successful in receiving FDA
approval to such supplement or that it would noefdifficulties in obtaining raw materials on conmeially acceptable terms. Failure to
receive FDA approval for, and to locate, acceptalikrnative sources of raw materials would haweaterial adverse effect on the Company.
The Company experienced a shortage of two raw méén the latter half of 2000. These shortageseapected to continue through the
second quarter of 2001.

The DEA limits the quantity of the Company's invates of certain raw materials used in the produnctif controlled substances based on
historical sales data. In view of the Company'endy
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depressed sales volume, these DEA limitations cioaletase the likelihood of raw material shortagied of manufacturing delays in the e\
the Company experiences increased sales volunserequired to find new suppliers of these raw nialter

As described under the caption "Recent Eventscensed Synthesis Technologies”, the Company idajgng certain licensed technologies
to be used in the manufacture of controlled sulsstmnThe Company is also seeking to obtain an itmpgistration from the DEA to import
raw poppy to be used in such development and metwifiag efforts directly from third-party supplieirsIindia and Turkey. No assurance can
be given that the Company will be successful imifiging and contracting with third-party suppligrsindia or Turkey on commercially
acceptable terms for the Company's requirementzvwofnaterials to be used in its controlled substatevelopment and commercialization
efforts.

SUBSIDIARIES

The Company's Culver, Indiana manufacturing openatare conducted by Houba, Inc., an Indiana catjwor and wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company. Halsey Pharmaceuticals, Inc., aWale corporation, is a wholly-owned subsidiaryakhi currently inactive. The
Company also has the following additional subsidareach of which is currently inactive and apti¢ed to be dissolved during the
remainder of the 2001 fiscal year: Indiana Finer@icals Corporation, a Delaware corporation, H.Rn€&aboratories, Inc., a California
corporation, Cenci Powder Products, Inc., a Delavearporation, Blue Cross Products, Inc., a NewkYoarporation, and The Medi-Gum
Corporation, a Delaware corporation.

EMPLOYEES

As of March 23, 2001, the Company had approximatély full-time employees. Approximately 28 emplay@ee administrative and
professional personnel and the balance are in ptmfiuand shipping. Among the professional persfréhare engaged in research and
product development. Management believes thatitgions with its employees are satisfactory.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES.

Halsey leases, as sole tenant, a pharmaceuticalfatdnring facility of approximately 35,000 squdget located at 77 Brenner Drive,
Congers, New York. The Agreement of Lease, witluaaffiliated third party, contains a three yeantevith a two year renewal option and
provides for annual fixed rent of $500,000 per yaaning the primary term of the Lease and $600@80year during the renewal period. The
primary term of the Lease expires on March 21, 2002 leased facility houses a portion of the Camyfsamanufacturing operations and
includes office and warehouse space. The Leasealgains an option pursuant to which the Compaay purchase the leased premises and
improvements (including certain production andtedaequipment) for a purchase price of $5 milliexercisable at any time during the Lease
term.

Halsey leases, as sole tenant, a facility locatd@% Wells Avenue, Congers, New York. The Facitipntains office, warehouse and
manufacturing space and is approximately 18,00@rggieet. The Lease provides for a term of fourgyeath an option to renew for an
additional three years and provides for annuakfisent of approximately $127,000 per year durirggfttst two years of the Lease and
approximately $135,000 per year during the lastyears.

Halsey leases approximately 4,700 square feetfieadpace located at 695 North Perryville Road|diug No. 2, Rockford, lllinois. The
lease is between the Company and an unaffiliatesble The original lease had a term of two yeapérierg August 31, 2000, allows annual
renewals through August 31, 2003 and calls for ahrental, including maintenance and common argermse, of approximately $46,000 per
year. This leased facility houses the Companyticipal executive offices, including its sales, adiistration and finance operatiot

The Company's Houba, Inc. subsidiary owns approéin@5,000 square feet of building space on agprately 30 acres of land in Culver,
Indiana, which includes a 15,000 square foot mastufang facility.
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This manufacturing facility houses separate pléortshe production of certain raw materials as vaslifinished dosage products in capsule
tablet form.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS.

Beginning in 1992, actions were commenced agaiesCompany and numerous other pharmaceutical manuéss in the Pennsylvania
Court of Common Pleas, Philadelphia Division, imection with the alleged exposure to diethylsttba ("DES"). The defense of all of
such matters was assumed by the Company's insucamier, and a substantial number have been ddtyi¢he carrier. Currently, several
actions remain pending with the Company as a defenadnd the insurance carrier is defending eattbraSimilar actions were brought in
Ohio, and have been dismissed based on Ohio lagvCBmpany does not believe any of such actionshaile a material impact on the
Company's financial condition.

The Company has been named as a defendant in dit@aal action which has been referred to the Canys insurance carrier and has been
accepted for defense. The action, Alonzo v. HaBmyg Co., Inc. and K-Mart Corp., No. 64DOT-95111-2736 (Indiana Superior Court,
Porter County), was commenced on November 7, 1885revolves a claim for unspecified damages regatinthe alleged ingestion of
"Doxycycline 100." The Company does not believe tition will have a material impact on the Compgfigpancial condition.

ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS.
No matters were submitted to a vote of securitglérd during the fourth quarter of 20t
PART Il
ITEM 5. MARKET PRICE FOR THE REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQ UITY AND RELATED SECURITY HOLDER MATTERS.
MARKET AND MARKET PRICES OF COMMON STOCK

On August 29, 2000, the Company was informed byAlieedicatory Counsel of the American Stock Exchauithmex") that it had
determined to delist the Common Stock of the Comfanfailure to meet the Amex's criteria for conted listing. The last day of trading of
the Company's Common Stock on the Amex was Septemiz®00. The Company's Common Stock commencdiahtgyan the NASDAQ
sponsored Over the Counter Bulletin Board on Sepézr@, 2000.

Set forth below for the periods indicated arelg high and low sales prices of the Company's Com@&tock while listed on Amex as
reported by the Exchange and (ii) the high andbadprice for the Company's Common Stock for trgdmthe Common Stock on the OTC
Bulletin Board as reported by the OTC Bulletin Bahar
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AMERICAN STOCK EXCHANGE

SALES PRICE
PERIOD HIGH LOW
1999 Fiscal Year
First Quarter........cccoovvvvvvivvnnieieeneees 19/16 1
Second QUArer....ccceveeveeveneeeeeeeieiieeeeee 33/16 1
Third QUarter.....ccccccvevvvveiciiiiieeee 31/8 2
Fourth Quarter.........ccooovvivvvvvviineeee. 23/4 34
2000 Fiscal Year
First Quarter......cccooovvvvviciiiiieeeeenes 2 3/8 1
Second QUArer....cccueveeveeveneeeeeeeieiieeeeee 1.52 1.02
Third Quarter through September 7, 2000.......... ... 1.375 .98
OTC BULLETIN BOARD*
BID PRICE
PERIOD HIGH LOW
2000 Fiscal Year
Third Quarter (commencing September 8, 2000)..... ... 1.78 3
Fourth Quarter........coovvvvviviiiieenen. 1.125 41
2001 Fiscal Year
First Quarter (through March 23, 2001)............ ... 1.24 .69

* Such over-the-counter market quotations reflatgr-dealer prices, without retail mark-up, markvdoor commission and may not
necessarily represent actual transactions.

HOLDERS

There were 750 holders of record of the Compargrisncon stock on March 23, 2001. This number, howel@ss not reflect the ultimate
number of beneficial holders of the Company's comistock.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The payment of cash dividends from current earnisgsibject to the discretion of the Board of Dices and is dependent upon many factors,
including the Company's earnings, its capital neetbits general financial condition. The termshaf Company's 5% convertible senior
secured debentures and the Loan Agreement withdiv&bkarmaceuticals prohibit the Company from pagagh dividends. The Company
does not intend to pay any cash dividends in thesgeable future.

ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA.

The selected consolidated financial data presesrédtie following pages for the years ended Decer@beP000, 1999, 1998, 1997 and 1996
are derived from the Company's audited Consolidaiedncial Statements. The Consolidated Financaksents as of December 31, 2000
and December 31, 1999, and for each of the yedheithree year period ended December 31, 2000th@nckport thereon, are included
elsewhere herein. The selected financial infornmadie of and for the years ended December 31, 1988, and 1996 are derived from the
audited Consolidated Financial Statements of thmgamy not presented herein.

The information set forth below is qualified byeegnce to, and should be read in conjunction it Consolidated Financial Statements and
related notes thereto included elsewhere in thipoReand "ltem 7. Management's Discussion and Asiglyf Financial Condition and Results
of Operations."
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YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31,

2000 1999 1998 1997 1996
(IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT PER SHARE DATA)

OPERATING DATA:
Net revenues..........cccceevene $ 20,223 $ 11,420 $ 8,841 $ 9,088 $ 12,379
Costs and expenses

Cost of revenues................ 18,743 15,316 12,712 15,407 16,826
Research and development.......... 1,821 1,075 651 979 1,854
Selling, general and

administrative................. 6,208 7,383 8,078 6,308 7,486
Plant shutdown costs.............. 53 3,220 -- - --
Interest expense..........cc..... 3,037 2,851 1,285 1,144 1,708

Amortization of deferred debt
discount and private offering

COSt.ciiiiiiiiieiiie e 2,448 1,825 661

Other (income) expense............ (44) (187) (1,822) 264  (1,000)
Income (loss) before provision for

income taxes.........c...c..... (12,043) (20,063) (12,724) (15,014) (14,495)
Provision (benefit) for income

tAXES..c e (389) - - - -

Net income (loss)................. $ (11,654) $ (20,063) $ (12,724) $ (15,014) $(14,495)

(140) $ (92) $ (1.12) $ (1.49)

Weighted average common shares
outstanding..........cc.ceene 14,325,551 14 ,325,551 13,812,529 13,434,215 9,724,106

DECEMBER 31,

2000 1999 1998 1997 1996
(IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT PER SHARE DATA)

BALANCE SHEET DATA:
Working capital (deficiency)........ $(2,561) $ (5,181) $(6,665) $(22,304) $(12,201)
Total assets........ccceeveveeenee. 15,209 12,495 16,413 7,667 11,982
Total liabilities..........c........ 68,558 54,869 45,366 27,524 19,063
Retained earnings (accumulated

defiCit)...ccooevriiiiiiiene, (88,938) (77,284) (57,221) (44,497) (29,484)
Stockholders' equity (deficit)...... (53,349) (42,374) (28,953) (19,857) (7,081)

ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FIN ANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS.

Certain statements set forth under this captiorstitoe "forward-looking statements” within the mesy of the Reform Act. See "Special
Note Regarding Forwa-Looking Statements" on page 1 of this Report fiditonal factors relating to such Statements.

OVERVIEW

The Company reported a net loss of $11,654,00088 er share for the year ended December 31, 20@0mpared with the net loss of
$20,063,000 or $1.40 per share for 1999. Includeddat Revenues for 2000 was $5.0 million of a t6t8.5 million due from Watson
Laboratories as payment for a product ANDA soltMatson in March, 2000. The remaining $8.5 millisrekpected to be realized in 2001 as
milestones are achieved. Included in the loss @91lis a one-time charge of $3,220,000 resultinghfthe Company's decision to shutdown
its Brooklyn operation. Net revenues for the yaatesl December 31, 2000, excluding the $5.0 millefarred to above, were approximately
$15,223,000 as compared to net revenues of appabeiyn$11,420,000 for 1999.
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The Company reduced its loss before interest, degiren and taxes to ($5,958,000) for 2000 comp#rd$14,660,000) and ($11,487,000)
for 1999 and 1998, respectively. This was achiesxgzh though the Company continued to operate #féidient Brooklyn facility throughout
2000 as it awaited the FDA approval of its leasedders facility. This approval was received in Fgloy, 2001 enabling the Company to
close down its operations in Brooklyn in March, 2@Gith an estimated annual operational savingss¢gd@,000.

The Company had the following achievements in 2000:

- Completed various strategic alliance transactieitis \WWatson Pharmaceuticals, Inc. providing cdpitad guaranteed ongoing source of
revenue from contract manufacturing.

- Received approval from the FDA of ANDA for doxytiyne monohydrate.
- Acquired patented technology for the synthesisaafeine from morphine
- Subsequent to year end, the Company acquiredaéady for the efficient isolation of thebaine fraaw opium.

- Subsequent to year end, received approval frenDBA to manufacture Schedule IlI-N controlled sahses at the Company's Culver,
Indiana facility .

- Subsequent to year end, completed the shutdowheddrooklyn facility eliminating approximately $bmillion in annual operating costs.
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following chart reflects expenses, earningspnime, losses and profits expressed as a percenftage revenues for the years 2000, 1999
and 1998.

PERCENTAGE CHANGE
YEAR-TO-YEAR
INCREASE (DECREASE)

PERCENTA GE OF NET SALES YEARS ENDED
YEAR END ED DECEMBER 31, DECEMBER 31,
2000 1999 1998 1999 TO 2000 1998 TO 1999
Net product revenues.................... 100% 100% 100% 77.1% 29.2%
Cost of Manufacturing................... 92.7 134.1 143.8 22.4 20.5
Research & Development.................. 9.0 9.4 7.4 69.4 65.1
Selling, general and administrative
EXPENSE....eviieeeiiiieeeeiiieaenn 30.7 64.6 914 (15.9) (8.6)
Plant shutdown costs..... e .3 28.2 - (98.4) -
(Loss) from operations.................. (32.6) (136.4) (142.5) (57.6) 23.6
Interest expense........cccccveeeenn... 15.0 250 145 6.5 121.9
Amortization of deferred debt discount
and private offering cost............. 12.1 16.0 7.5 34.1 176.1
Other (income) expenses................. (.2) (1.6) (20.6) (76.5) (89.7)
(Loss) before income taxes.............. (59.6) (175.7) (143.9) (40.0) 57.7
Net (I0SS)...cceerivriieiiiiiieeens (57.6) (175.7) (143.9) (41.9) 57.7

NET PRODUCT REVENUES

Net product revenues for 2000 of $20,223,000 regmtssan increase of $8,803,000 as compared tewenues for 1999. Net prodt
revenues for 2000 are comprised of sales of predotiling $15,223,000 and revenues from produetidement of $5,000,000. The
Company had no product development revenue in d898ior years. The increase in sales of productgtributable primarily to the Core
Products Supply Agreement with Watson dated, Ma26B0 whereby Watson was obligated to purchasgandor a minimum of
$9,180,000 of products in 2000.

17



Net product revenues for 1999 of $11,420,000 regssan increase of $2,579,000 as compared taodugt revenues for 1998. The incre
is attributable to greater market penetration a agethe introduction of additional products, pairity prednisolone, which accounted for
approximately $815,000 of new product revenues.

COST OF MANUFACTURING

The Company's cost of manufacturing for 2000 imptbto 92.7% versus 134.1% for 1999. The improvenme2000 is due primarily to the
addition of the $5,000,000 of product developmentenue. The development costs associated withehé&nue were substantially incurred in
prior years and were expensed at that time. Theofasanufacturing for 2000 on product sales alwas 123%.

The Company's cost of manufacturing for 1999 imptbto 134.1% versus 143.8% for 1998. The improvenmmet999 is due primarily to the
leveraging effect of greater sales over certaiadimanufacturing expenses.

RESEARCH & DEVELOPMENT EXPENSES

For 2000, research and development expenses amddaor$&,821,000 as compared to $1,075,000 for 1B88.increase primarily reflects the
costs associated with obtaining the codeine teciyyol

For 1999, research and development expenses amdorfd, 075,000 as compared to $651,000 for 1988.ificrease primarily reflects the
costs of additional regulatory personnel hired iy 999 to perform work in conjunction with new guct development and the transfer of
certain Barr ANDAs acquired during 1999.

The Company expects research and development eegpensicrease in 2001 as compared to 2000 contigith its plans to develop
additional active pharmaceutical ingredients aCitdver, Indiana facility.

SELLING, GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

Selling, general and administrative costs were @& (@0 (30.7% of net revenues) for 2000 comparei¥1883,000 (64.6% of net revenues)
for 1999. This decrease is primarily due to thenglation of the Company's outside sales force @pprately $400,000) and reduced legal
expenses (approximately $750,000) in 2000 as cozdptar1999.

Selling, general and administrative costs were&3,(B0 (64.6% of net sales) for 1999 compared {0A8000 (91.4% of net sales) for 1998.
This decrease is primarily due to the reduced legpénses in 1999 as compared to 1998.

PLANT SHUTDOWN COSTS

In the fourth quarter of 1999, the Company decittediscontinue its Brooklyn operations. The totahige against earnings in 1999 of
approximately $3,220,000 resulting from eliminatthg Brooklyn operation includes the lease ternmmapayment of $1,150,000, a provis
of $200,000 for plant repairs, the write-off of$edold improvements of $1,778,000, severance dra obsts for terminated employees of
$730,000, less deferred rent previously expensé&®38,000.

INTEREST EXPENSE
Interest expense for 2000 increased by 6.5% owatrofh1999 reflecting interest on borrowings unither Watson term loan.

Interest expense for 1999 increased by 121.9%tbeg¢iof 1998 reflecting the issuance of an add#i&17,800,000 of convertible debentures
in 1999.
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AMORTIZATION OF DEFERRED DEBT DISCOUNT AND DEBT ISS UANCE COSTS

In 2000, 1999 and 1998 the Company issued wareartsncurred costs associated with private placésraard bridge financings. The value
of warrants issued in 2000, 1999 and 1998, asm@ted by use of the Black-Scholes valuation modek $124,750, $5,234,000 and
$2,618,000, respectively. Additionally, the Compamyurred approximately $907,000 and $1,516,000etft issuance costs in 1999 and
1998, respectively. These amounts are being aredrtizer the life of the underlying debentures wheghire in March, 2003. Accordingly,
the Company amortized $2,509,000, $1,825,000 a6d,$60 in 2000, 1999 and 1998, respectively.

OTHER INCOME

Included in other income for 1998 is $1,900,000ized from the sale of certain assets to Mallinckrd his transaction was entered into in
1997 but the conditions for realization of the giom the sale were not met until 1998.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

At December 31, 2000, the Company had cash andezpshalents of $697,000 as compared to $786,00@e¢mber 31, 1999. The
Company had a working capital deficit at Decemidgr2®00 of $(2,561,000).

During the period from May 1997 through July 198i& Company borrowed approximately $3 million fréfylan Laboratories, Inc.
pursuant to five unsecured, demand promissory nétesadvances made by Mylan Laboratories, Inceysart of a proposed investment by
Mylan Laboratories, Inc. in the Company, includthg proposed purchase of the Company's Culveratadiacility as well as a partial tender
offer for the Company's common stock. The Compawgduhe proceeds of these borrowings for workinmtaa As of March 23, 2001,
$2,216,428 has been paid by the Company to Mylamagsuch indebtedness in the form of producvdgks to Mylan. Pursuant to an
agreement reached between the parties, the Conmpegyuired to satisfy interest on the outstandinigbtedness on an annual basis whil
indebtedness remains outstanding and to satisfgriheipal amount of such indebtedness in the fofproduct deliveries to Mylan until su
time as the indebtedness is satisfied in full.

The Company secured bridge financing from Galemniees Ill, L.P. Galen Partners International llIPLand Galen Employee Fund lIlI, L.P.
(collectively, "Galen") in the aggregate amounapproximately $3,300,000, funded through six sepdvedge loan transactions during the
period from December 8, 1999 through March 29, 2@@lectively, the "2000 Galen Bridge Loans"). Tgréncipal amount of the 2000 Ga
Bridge Loans and accrued and unpaid interest vagigfied in full with a portion of the proceedstbé Watson Term Loan (as described
below). Prior to repayment, the 2000 Galen Bridgans accrued interest at the rate of 18% per aramehwere secured by a first lien on alll
of the Company's assets. In consideration for ¥tension of the 2000 Galen Bridge Loans, the Compgsued common stock purchase
warrants to Galen to purchase an aggregate of @8G/@ares of the Company's common stock (repregewirrants to purchase 50,000
shares of common stock for each $1,000,000 in jpahamount of the 2000 Galen Bridge Loans). Theravds issued pursuant to the 2000
Galen Bridge Loans have an exercise price equhktair market value of the Company's common stotkhe date of issuance and are
substantially identical to those issued by the Camydn the Galen Offering completed in March 19Bi8e 2000 Galen Bridge Loans were
obtained by the Company in order to provide neagssarking capital prior to the completion of theat§on Term Loan as described below.

On March 22, 2000, the Company executed a Leagaifiation and Settlement Agreement with the landtfrthe Company's Brooklyn,
New York manufacturing facility (the "Settlement lsgment"). The Settlement Agreement acceleratetethenation of the lease coveri
the Company's Brooklyn facility and provides then@any with the time necessary to transfer operatiorihe Company's Congers, New
York facilities and cease all manufacturing, reskand development and warehouse operations clyrcemtducted in Brooklyn. The
Settlement Agreement provides for the terminatibthe Brooklyn lease on March 31, 2001. The oribiease provided for a term expiring
December 31, 2005 with a rental payment
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obligation of $6,715,000 during the period from ®epber 1, 2000 through December 31, 2005. TheeSwetht Agreement provided for the
Company's payment of a lease termination fee df3f,000, the advance payment of rent through AugiisP000 and a restoration escrow
deposit of $200,000 for plant repairs. The Compaleg deposited in escrow with its counsel $390\8bizh represents rental payments for
the period September 1, 2000 through March 31, 20064 rent escrow amount was released to the leshdio September 1, 2000. The
Company funded the termination fee payment, theack rental payment obligations and restorationusatni@quired pursuant to the
Settlement Agreement with the proceeds receivad fle Watson Term Loan described below.

In addition to the lease termination and escrownpants described above, the Company incurred seserd other costs for terminated
employees of approximately $730,000 which were paitie second quarter of 2000. Also, the Companyrired capital costs of
approximately $2,000,000 in 2000 associated wighttAnsfer of certain operations from Brooklyntie Congers facility.

In addition to the other strategic alliance tratisas with Watson Pharmaceuticals, Inc. ("Watsaahpleted on March 29, 2000 (see "ltem
1. Business -- Recent Events -- Strategic Allianith Watson Pharmaceuticals"), the Company and Wvia¢secuted a Loan Agreement
providing for Watson's extension of a $17,500,@tloan to the Company (the "Watson Term Loante Watson Term Loan will be
funded in installments upon the Company's requesdadvances and the provision to Watson of a suipgounse of proceeds relating to each
such advance. As of March 23, 2001, $13,000,00kad advanced by Watson to the Company under #isdN Term Loan. The Watson
Term Loan is secured by a first lien on all of @@mpany's assets, senior to the liens securirgtedk Company indebtedness, carries a
floating rate of interest equal to prime plus tvaygent and matures on March 31, 2003. As of Ma&;t2201, a portion of the net proceeds of
the Watson Term Loan were used to satisfy in idl2000 Galen Bridge Loans, to satisfy the Comsgugyment obligations under the
Settlement Agreement with the landlord of its Brigak New York facility, to fund capital improvemenand for working capital. The
remaining net proceeds of the Watson Term Loan imillarge part, be used to complete the upgramléiset APl manufacturing facility of
Houba, Inc., the Company's wholly-owned subsiditnygomplete the upgrades to the Company's Coniyess,York leased facilities, to fund
the relocation of the Company's research and dpretat and manufacturing operations from its Brookew York facilities to its Congel
New York facility and for working capital to fundntinued operation:

Pursuant to the terms of the Core Products Supghgément with Watson, Watson is required to purekasl pay for on a quarterly basis a
minimum of $3,060,000 for products supplied by @@npany under such Agreement. As of March 23, 2@¢dtson had made an advance
payment of $3,795,000 as required under the tefrtiteedCore Products Supply Agreement to be applgainst future product purchases
under such Agreement. The advance payments anadalityonal advance payments made by Watson undeCdine Products Supply
Agreement will require that the Company supply Watwith a like amount of products without additibpayments from Watson at such
time.

Until such time as the Company successfully devetoml commercializes new finished dosage productaA®Is, of which there can be no
assurance, the Company will continue to incur dpegdosses and negative cash flow. As discusséénime caption "Recent Events --
Strategic Alliance with Watson Pharmaceuticals"additional $8.5 million is payable by Watson te thompany under the terms of the
Product Purchase Agreement completed in March, 28la@ing to the doxycycline ANDA (the "Remaining®ycycline Payments"). The
Company estimates that it will receive $5 millidrttee Remaining Doxycycline Payments in the seaqmatter of 2001 and the remaining
$3.5 million of the Remaining Doxycycline Paymeintshe third quarter of 2001. The Remaining Doxyline Payments combined with the
$4.5 million balance available under the WatsomTepan will be sufficient to satisfy the Compamysrking capital requirements for the
next 12 months. In the event of any delay in thoeig of funding from Watson, the Company's abildyoperate could be hampered.

The process of obtaining the required DEA approvatsduding contesting any resulting oppositiongeeding, and the continuing
development of the Licensed Technologies will aomti through 2004. In order to fund the continuedetigpment of the Licensed
Technologies, to complete the planned capital
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improvements to the Company's Culver, Indiana amagérs, NY facilities, and to process the regigirst and approvals required from the
DEA (including funding the legal fees and relatggenses in connection with any opposition procegditating to the Company's request

a raw material import registration), during theipérfrom fiscal 2002 through and including fisc@l02 the Company estimates that it will be
required to obtain additional sources of finanaing third party equity investment of approximat®®5 million. There can be no assurance,
however, that such financing or equity investmeititive available to the Company at such time oreptable terms, if at all. Failure to obtain
such financing or equity investment will require tBompany to delay or cease the continued develapofiche Licensed Technologies and
the completion of the capital improvements discdssaler the caption "Recent Events -- Licensed#gis Technologies.” An extended
delay or a cessation of the Company's continuingld@ment efforts relating to the Licensed Techgiae or delays in obtaining required
DEA approvals, will have a material adverse effacthe Company's financial condition and resultspdrations.

CAPITAL EXPENDITURES

The Company's capital expenditures during 20009188d 1998 were $2,962,000, $918,000 and $1,5@5r86pectively. The increase in
capital expenditures in 2000 as compared to pearyis attributable to capital improvements toGenpany's Congers, NY and Culver,
Indiana facilities. Specific improvement were maglémprove the laboratories at both Congers, NY @aotier, Indiana as well as to
significantly improve and expand the manufactuidagabilities of both locations. The Company hasjeted for capital expenditures
approximately $2,000,000 in fiscal 2001. Such an®will be funded from the net proceeds of the Wiatferm Loan and the payments tc
received by the Company pursuant to each of thduRtAcquisition Agreement and Core Products Supgseement with Watson.

IMPACT OF INFLATION

The Company believes that inflation did not haveaderial impact on its operations for the pericgfsorted. Significant increases in labor,
employee benefits and other expenses could hawaerial adverse effect on the Company's performance

ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA
The response to this item is submitted as a sepaeation of this Report commencing on page F-1.
ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTAN TS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE.
Not Applicable.
PART llI
ITEM 10. DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE RE GISTRANT.

The information required by Item 10 will be inclubim the Company's Proxy Statement for the 2001uahiMeeting of Shareholders, which
will be filed within 120 days after the close okt@ompany's fiscal year ended December 31, 20@disdrereby incorporated herein by
reference to such Proxy Statement.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION.

The information required by Item 11 will be inclubim the Company's Proxy Statement for the 2001uahMeeting of Shareholders, which
will be filed within 120 days after the close okt@ompany's fiscal year ended December 31, 20@0isdrereby incorporated herein by
reference to such Proxy Statement.
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ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL O WNERS AND MANAGEMENT.

The information required by Item 12 will be inclubim the Company's Proxy Statement for the 2001uahiMeeting of Shareholders, which
will be filed within 120 days after the close okt@ompany's fiscal year ended December 31, 20@0isdrereby incorporated herein by
reference to such Proxy Statement.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACT IONS.

The information required by Item 13 will be inclubim the Company's Proxy Statement for the 2001uahiMeeting of Shareholders, which
will be filed within 120 days after the close okt@ompany's fiscal year ended December 31, 20@0isdrereby incorporated herein by
reference to such Proxy Statement.

PART IV
ITEM 14. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES AN D REPORTS ON FORM 8-K.
(a) Financial Statements -- See Index to Finar®talements.
(b) Reports on Form 8-K
No reports on Form-K were filed during the last quarter of the fisgahr covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
(c) Exhibits

The following exhibits are included as a part aé thnnual Report on Form 10-K or incorporated heigy reference.

EXHIBIT
NUMBER DOCUMENT

3.1 Certificate of Incorporation and amendm ents (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Registr ant's Annual Report
on 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1999).

3.2 Restated Bylaws (incorporated by refere nce to Exhibit 3.1 to
the Registrant's Quarterly Report on Fo rm 10-Q for the
quarter ended June 30, 1993).

3.3 Restated By-Laws (incorporated by refer ence to Exhibit 3.3
to the Registrant's Annual Report Form 10-K for the year
ended December 31, 1998 (the "1998 Form 10-K").

10.1 Credit Agreement, dated as of December 22,1992, among the
Registrant and The Chase Manhattan Bank , N.A. (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Reg istrant's Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1992
(the "1992 Form 10-K")).

10.2 Amendment Two, dated as of January 12, 1994, to Credit
Agreement among the Registrant and The Chase Manhattan Bank,
N.A., together with forms of Stock Warr ant and Registration
Rights Agreement (incorporated by refer ence to Exhibit 10.1
to the Registrant's Annual Report on Fo rm 10-K for the year
ended December 31, 1993 (the "1993 Form 10-K").

10.3 Amendment Three, dated as of May 31, 19 94, to Credit
Agreement among the Registrant and The Chase Manhattan Bank,
NL.A. (incorporated by reference to Exhi bit 6(a) to the
Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 1 0-Q for the quarter
ended March 31, 1994).

10.4 Amendment Four, dated as of July 1994, to Credit Agreement
among the Registrant and The Chase Manh attan Bank, N.A.
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 6 (a) to the
Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 1 0-Q for the quarter
ended June 30, 1994).

10.5 Amendment Five, dated as of March 21, 1 995, to Credit
Agreement among the Registrant and The Chase Manhattan Bank,
N.A. (incorporated by reference to Exhi bit 10.7 to the
Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K dated March 21, 1995

(the "March 8-K")).
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EXHIBIT
NUMBER DOCUMENT

10.5(1) Form of Warrants issued to The Bank of
Manhattan Bank, N.A. and the Israel Dis
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 1
Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K
December 31, 1995 (the "1995 Form 10-K"

10.5(2) Letter Agreement, dated July 10, 1995,
Co., Inc., The Chase Manhattan Bank, N.
York and Israel Discount Bank of New Yo
reference to Exhibit 6(a) to the Regist
Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter end
"June 10-Q")).

10.5(3) Letter Agreement, dated November 16, 19
Co., Inc., The Chase Manhattan Bank, N.
York and Israel Discount Bank of New Yo
reference to Exhibit 10.25(iv) to the 1

10.5(4) Amendment 6, dated as of August 6, 1996
among Halsey Drug Co., Inc., The Chase
The Bank of New York and Israel Discoun
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 1
1 to the Registrant's Quarterly Report
quarter ended June 30, 1996 (the "June

10.5(5) Letter Agreement, dated March 25, 1997
Co., Inc., The Chase Manhattan Bank, as
interest to The Chase Manhattan Bank (N
The Bank of New York and Israel Discoun

10.6 Agreement Regarding Release of Security
of March 21, 1995 by and among the Comp
Chemical Acquisition, Inc. and The Chas
N.A. (incorporated by reference to Exhi
8-K).

10.7 Consulting Agreement dated as of Septem
Registrant and Joseph F. Limongelli (in
reference to Exhibit 10.6 to the 1993 F

10.8 Employment Agreement, dated as of Janua
the Registrant and Rosendo Ferran (inco
to Exhibit 10.2 to the 1992 Form 10-K).

10.10(1) Halsey Drug Co., Inc. 1984 Stock Optio
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 1
10-K).

10.10(2) Halsey Drug Co., Inc. 1995 Stock Optio
Purchase Plan (incorporated by referenc
the Registrant's Registration Statement
No. 33-98396).

10.10(3) Halsey Drug Co., Inc. Non-Employee Dir
Plan.

10.11 Leases, effective February 13, 1989 and
respectively, among the Registrant and
Sue Ackerman, Lee Hinderstein, Thelma H
Marilyn Weiss (incorporated by referenc
and 10.7, respectively, to the Registra
Form 10-K for the year ended December 3

10.12 Lease, effective as of April 15, 1988,
and Milton J. Ackerman, Sue Ackerman, L
Thelma Hinderstein and Marilyn Weiss, a
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 1
Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K
December 31, 1987).

10.12(l) Lease, as of October 31, 1994, among R
J. Ackerman, Sue Ackerman, Lee Hinderst
Hinderstein and Marilyn Weiss, together
Consolidation and Extension Agreement (
reference to Exhibit 10. 12(i) to the 1

10.13 Asset Purchase Agreement dated as of Ma
Mallinckrodt Chemical Acquisition, Inc.
Mallinckrodt Chemical, Inc., as guarant
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 1
8-K).
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EXHIBIT
NUMBER DOCUMENT

10.14 Toll Manufacturing Agreement for APAP/O
dated as of March 21, 1995 between Acqu
Registrant (incorporated by reference t
March 8-K).

10.15 Capsule ANDA Option Agreement dated as
between Acquisition and the Registrant
reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the March

10.16 Tablet ANDA Noncompetition Agreement da
1995 between the Registrant and Acquisi
reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the March

10.17 Subordinated Non-Negotiable Promissory
amount of $1,200,00 dated March 21, 199
Registrant to Acquisition (incorporated
Exhibit 10.5 to the March 8-K).

10.18 Term Note Security Agreement dated as o
among the Company, Houba, Inc. and Acqu
by reference to Exhibit 10.6 to the Mar

10.19 Amendment dated March 21, 1995 to Subor
dated as of July 21, 1994 between Malli
Inc., Mallinckrodt Chemical Acquisition
Registrant, The Chase Manhattan Bank (N
Israel Discount Bank of New York, The B
The Chase Manhattan Bank (National Asso
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 1
8-K).

10.20 Agreement dated as of March 30, 1995 be
and Zatpack, Inc. (incorporated by refe
10.10 to the March 8-K).

10.21 Waiver and Termination Agreement dated
between Zuellig Group, W.A., Inc. and |
Corporation (incorporated by reference
the March 8-K).

10.22 Convertible Subordinated Note of the Re
December 1, 1994 issued to Zatpack, Inc
reference to Exhibit 10.12 to the March

10.23 Agreement dated as of March 30, 1995 am
Indiana Fine Chemicals Corporation, Zue
Inc., Houba Inc., Zetapharm, Inc. and Z
Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhi
March 8-K).

10.24 Supply Agreement dated as of March 30,
Inc. and ZetaPharm, Inc. (incorporated
Exhibit 10.14 to the March 8-K).

10.25 Form of 10% Convertible Subordinated De
by reference to Exhibit 6(a) to the Jun

10.26 Form of Redeemable Common Stock Purchas
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 6
10-Q).

10.27 Form of 10% Convertible Subordinated De
by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Regi
Report on Form 8-K dated December 4, 19
8-K")).

10.28 Form of Redeemable Common Stock Purchas
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4
8-K).

10.29 Form of 10% Convertible Subordinated De
by reference to Exhibit 99 to the June

10.30 Form of Redeemable Common Stock Purchas
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4
to the June 1996 10-Q).

10.31 Form of 5% Convertible Senior Secured D
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4
Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K
(the "March 1998 8-K")).
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EXHIBIT
NUMBER DOCUMENT

10.32 Form of Common Stock Purchase Warrant (
reference to Exhibit 4.2 to the March 1

10.33 Debenture and Warrant Purchase Agreemen
1998, by and among the Registrant, Gale
and the other Purchasers listed on the
thereto (incorporated by reference to E
March 1998 8-K).

10.34 Form of General Security Agreement of H
dated March 10, 1998 (incorporated by r
10.2 to the March 1998 8-K).

10.35 Form of Agreement of Guaranty of Subsid
Co., Inc. dated March 10, 1998 (incorpo
Exhibit 10.3 to the March 1998 8-K).

10.36 Form of Guarantor General Security Agre
1998 (incorporated by reference to Exhi
1998 8-K).

10.37 Stock Pledge Agreement dated March 10,
the Registrant and Galen Partners Ill,
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 1
8-K).

10.38 Form of Irrevocable Proxy Agreement (in
reference to Exhibit 10.6 to the March

10.39 Agency Letter Agreement dated March 10,
the Purchasers a party to the Debenture
Agreement, dated March 10, 1998 (incorp
to Exhibit 10.7 to the March 1998 8-K).

10.40 Press Release of Registrant dated March
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 9
8-K).

10.41 Current Report on Form 8-K as filed by
the Securities and Exchange Commission

10.42 Letter Agreement between the Registrant
Department of Justice dated March 27, 1
restructuring of the fine assessed by t
Justice under the Plea Agreement dated

10.43 Employment Agreement dated as of March
Registrant and Michael K. Reicher (inco
to Exhibit 10.43 to the Registrant's An
10-K for the year ended December 31, 19
10-K").

10.44 Employment Agreement dated as of March
Registrant and Peter Clemens (incorpora
Exhibit 10.44 to the 1997 Form 10-K.

10.45 Amended, Restated and Consolidated Brid
dated as of December 2, 1998 between th
Partners I, L.P., Galen Partners Inte
Galen Employee Fund lll, L.P. and the o
thereto (incorporated by reference to E
1998 Form 10-K).

10.46 First Amendment to Amended, Restated an
Loan Agreement dated December 7, 1998 b
and the lenders listed on the signature
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 1
10-K).

10.47 Second Amendment to Amended, Restated a
Bridge Loan Agreement dated March 8, 19
Company and the lenders listed on the s
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 1
10-K).

10.48 Form of 10% Convertible Secured Note du
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 1
10-K).

10.49 Form of Common Stock Purchase Warrant i
Amended, Restated and Consolidated Brid
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 1
10-K).
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EXHIBIT
NUMBER DOCUMENT

10.50 Amended and Restated General Security A
December 2, 1998 between the Company an
L.P., as Agent (incorporated by referen
to the 1998 Form 10-K).

10.51 Subordination Agreement dated December
Registrant and Galen Partners lll, L.P.
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 1
10-K).

10.52 Agency Letter Agreement dated December
the lenders a party to the Amended, Res
Consolidated Bridge Loan Agreement, as
by reference to Exhibit 10.52 to the 19

10.53 Lease Agreement dated March 17, 1999 be
and Par Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (incorpor
Exhibit 10.53 to the 1998 Form 10-K).

10.54 Lease Agreement dated September 1, 1998
Registrant and Crimson Ridge Partners (
reference to Exhibit 10.54 to the 1998

10.55 Manufacturing and Supply Agreement date
between the Registrant and Par Pharmace
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 1
10-K).

10.56 Halsey Drug Co., Inc. 1998 Stock Option
by reference to Exhibit 10.56 to the 19

10.57 Loan Agreement dated March 29, 2000 bet
and Watson Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (incor
to Exhibit 10.57 to the Registrant's Cu
8-K dated March 29, 2000 (the "March 20

10.58 Amendment to Loan Agreement dated March
Registrant and Watson Pharmaceuticals,
reference to Exhibit 10.58 to the March

10.59 Secured Promissory Note in the principa
$17,500,000 issued by the Registrant, a
of Watson Pharmaceuticals, Inc. dated M
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 1
2000 8-K).

10.60 Watson Security Agreement dated March 2
Registrant and Watson Pharmaceuticals,
reference to Exhibit 10.60 to the March

10.61 Stock Pledge Agreement dated March 29,
Registrant and Watson Pharmaceuticals,
reference to Exhibit 10.61 to the March

10.62 Watson Guarantee dated March 29, 2000 b
and Watson Pharmaceuticals, Inc., as th
favor of Watson Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (
reference to Exhibit 10.62 to the March

10.63 Watson's Guarantors Security Agreement
between Halsey Pharmaceuticals, Inc., H
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (incorporated by
10.63 to the March 2000 8-K).

10.64 Subordination Agreement dated March 29,
the Registrant, Watson Pharmaceuticals,
of the Registrant's outstanding 5% conv
due March 10, 2003. (incorporated by re
10.64 to the March 2000 8-K).+
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10.68 Finished Goods Supply Agreement dated M
the Registrant and Watson Pharmaceutica
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 1
2000 8-K).+

10.69 Active Ingredient Supply Agreement date
between the Registrant and Watson Pharm
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 1
2000 8-K).+

10.70 Right of First Negotiation Agreement da
between the Registrant and Watson Pharm
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 1
2000 8-K).+

10.71 Finished Goods Supply Agreement (Core P
29, 2000 between the Registrant and Wat
Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhi
March 2000 8-K).+

10.72 Debenture and Warrant Purchase Agreemen
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*23.1 Consent of Grant Thornton LLP, independ
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* Filed herewith.

+ A portion of this exhibit has been omitted pursua an application for confidential treatmentguant to Rule 24b-2 of the Securities

Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS

Board of Directors
Halsey Drug Co., Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balsineets of Halsey Drug Co., Inc. and Subsidiasesf December 31, 2000 and 1999,
and the related consolidated statements of opestgtockholders' equity and cash flows for eadh@three years in the period ended
December 31, 2000. These financial statementshareesponsibility of the Company's management.r@sponsibility is to express an
opinion on these financial statements based omodits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with audiiagdards generally accepted in the United StdtAsnerica. Those standards require
that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reabtmassurance about whether the financial statsnaes free of material misstatement. An
audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidsnpporting the amounts and disclosures in then6ig statements. An audit also includes
assessing the accounting principles used and &ignifestimates made by management, as well asairgj the overall financial statement
presentation. We believe that our audits providesaonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referedlbove present fairly, in all material respedts, ¢onsolidated financial position of Halsey
Drug Co., Inc. and Subsidiaries as of DecembeBQ0 and 1999, and the consolidated results aof tiperations and their consolidated cash
flows for each of the three years in the periodeehDecember 31, 2000, in conformity with accounpngciples generally accepted in the
United States of America.

GRANT THORNTON LLP

New York, New York
February 16, 2001
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HALSEY DRUG CO., INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

CURRENT ASSETS

Accounts receivable -- trade, net of allowances f
doubtful accounts of $315 and $425 in 2000 and
respectively...

INVENLONIES. . .vvveeeveeeeeeeeeeiiieeees

Prepaid expenses and other current assets........

Total current assets....................
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT, NET.................
DEFERRED PRIVATE OFFERING COSTS
OTHER ASSETS AND DEPOSITS.......ccecoiivieeees

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Notes payable..........cccoviiieiiiiiienene
Accounts payable....
Accrued eXPEeNSES........ccceovereereercneanens
Department of Justice Settlement.................

Total current liabilities................

CONVERTIBLE SUBORDINATED DEBENTURES, NET...........

TERM NOTE PAYABLE........ccooiiiiiiiieiieee
DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE SETTLEMENT...................
COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY (DEFICIT)
Common stock -- $.01 par value; authorized, 80,00
shares; issued 14,961,316 shares and 14,829,51
in 2000 and 1999, respectively................
Additional paid-in capital
Accumulated deficit...........ccovveennnnnen.

DECEMBER 31,

(IN THOUSANDS)

......... $ 697 $ 786
or
1999,
......... 4,132 2,716
......... 2,769 3,502
......... 545 213
......... 8,143 7,217
......... 5332 3,013
......... 1,138 1,623
......... 596 642
$15,209 $12,495
......... $1,844 $4,038
......... 2,671 2,283
......... 5,889 5777
......... 300 300
......... 10,704 12,398
......... 44,779 41,096
......... 12,000 -
......... 1,075 1,375
0,000
1 shares
......... 149 148
......... 35,440 35,751

......... (88,938) (77,284)

(53,349) (41,385)

Less treasury stock -- at cost (439,603 shares)..

The accompanying notes are an integral part obteegements.
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HALSEY DRUG CO., INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31,

2000 1999 1998
(IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT PER SHARE DATA)
Net product revenues........ccceevveevveevee. $20,223 $11,420 $ 8,841
Operating costs
Cost of manufacturing........cococeveevviceeee. L 18,743 15,316 12,712
Research and development........ccccccovceeeeee. L 1,821 1,075 651
Selling, general and administrative expenses..... ... 6,208 7,383 8,078
Plant shutdown COStS........ccoovcvvvevviceee. 53 3,220 -
Loss from operations.........ccccoceveeeveeeee L (6,602) (15,574) (12,600)
Other income(expense)
Interest expense, Net.....cccvvveveeeeeeeeeeeees L (3,037) (2,851) (1,285)
Amortization of deferred debt discount and privat e
offering CoStS.....oovvvveviiiiiieeiccees (2,448) (1,825) (661)
Other..coiiiiii e 44 187 1,822
Loss before income tax benefit.......cccccccccoo... L (12,043) (20,063) (12,724)
Income tax benefit........coocveevveieeees L 389 - -
NET LOSS

.............................................. $(11,654) $(20,063) $(12,724)
Basic and diluted loss per common share

.................... $ (.80) $ (1400 $ (.92
Weighted average number of outstanding shares

.............. 14,503 14,326 13,813

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktetements.



HALSEY DRUG CO., INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2000, 1999 AND 1998

COMMON S TOCK, TREASURY STOCK,
$.01 PAR VALUE ADDITIONAL AT COST
--------------- PAID-IN  ACCUMULATED  ----------=----
SHARES AMOUNT CAPITAL DEFICIT SHARES AMOUNT TOTAL
(IN THOUSANDS)
Balance at December 31, 1997............ 14,030 $140 $25,489  $(44,497) (440) $(989) $(19,857)
Issuance of shares -- conversion of
notes payable..........cccceeeeennne 110 1 213 214
Issuance of shares as payment of
iNterest........ccccovvvevrivnneenne 263 3 592 595
Issuance of shares -- settlement of
trade payables...........ccceeenne 40 55 55
Deferred debt discount on warrants
issued with convertible debentures.... 2,764 2,764
Net loss for the year ended December 31,
1998.. .. (12,724) (12,724)
Balance at December 31, 1998 (carried
forward).......coooevvieiiiineinnn. 14,443 144 29,113 (57,221) (440) (989) (28,953)
Balance at December 31, 1998 (brought
forward)........cooeeiiiiiinn, 14,443 144 29,113 (57,221) (440) (989) (28,953)
Issuance of shares as payment of
iNterest........ccocovevevvivnneenne 322 3 524 527
Deferred debt discount on warrants and
private issuance costs................ 5,641 5,641
Warrants issued for acquisition of
ANDA. ...t 350 350
Exercise of warrants.................... 29 1 49 50
Issuance of shares as payment of legal
fEeS. i 26 50 50
Issuance of shares as payment of
payables............oooiiiiiiinns 10 24 24
Net loss for the year ended December 31,
1999, i (20,063) (20,063)
Balance at December 31, 1999 (carried
forward)........cooeeiiiiiinn. 14,830 148 35,751 (77,284)  (440) (989) (42,374)
Balance at December 31, 1999 (brought
forward).......cocovevrieiiiiennne. 14,830 148 35,751 (77,284) (440) (989) (42,374)
Issuance of shares as payment of
Interest.......ccccvvveiieieenenenn. 90 1 251 252
Conversion of debentures................ 9 - 12 12
Deferred private issuance costs......... 125 125
Issuance of shares as payment of legal
fEeS. i 12 - 15 15
Issuance of shares as payment of
payables............oooiiiiiiinns 20 - 23 23
Reissuance of treasury stock............ (737) 440 989 252
Net loss for the year ended December 31,
2000, (11,654) (11,654)
BALANCE AT DECEMBER 31, 2000............ 14,961 $149 $35,440  $(88,938) - % - $(53,349)

The accompanying notes are an integral part ofstiiement.
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HALSEY DRUG CO., INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31,

2000 1999 1998

(IN THOUSANDS)
Cash flows from operating activities

NetlOSS...ccovvvviiiiiiie e $(11,654) $(20,063) $(12,724)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash use din
operating activities
Depreciation and amortization................. . ... 644 914 1,113
Amortization of deferred debt discount and pri vate
offering CostS......ccovvevvviieceeneeeee 2,509 1,825 661
Provision for losses on accounts receivable... ... (110) 145 (262)
(Gain) loss on disposal of assets............... ... (93) 1,709 --
Stock issued for legal expense — 15 50 --
Stock issued for trade payables.............. .. 23 24 -
Debentures and stock issued for interest expen Se....... 1,858 939 170
Changes in assets and liabilities
Accounts receivable..........ccccocoeeeeeee. L (1,306) (1,422) (1,115)
InVentories......coocevvcveecvicieeee 732 2,852 (3,898)
Prepaid expenses and other current assets... ... (170) (65) 126
Other assets and deposits.......ccccoeeeeee. L. (38) (157) --
Accounts payable — 388 399 (4,197)
Deferred gain......cccccovvcvvevvvcceeee. L - - (1,900)
Other liabilities........cccoceeevvceeeee. - (549) -
Accrued eXpenses......ccccovvvvvcvnvneneeee 474 1,444 (2,665)
Total adjustments.......cccoevvevvcceenne 4,926 8,108 (11,967)
Net cash used in operating activities......... ... (6,728) (11,955) (24,691)
Cash flows from investing activities
Capital expenditures.........ccccoeveeevvceeee. (2,962) (918) (1,545)
Investment in joint venture .- (113) -- --
Net proceeds from sale of assets................ ..~ ... 93 69 96
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activ ities.... (2,982) (849) (1,449)
Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from issuance of notes payable.......... . ... 13,800 4,000 6,495
Payments to Department of Justice................ .. (300) (300) (178)
Bank overdraft.......cccocoveveeeviiiiiiicieee -- -- (159)
Due to banks..........cccccvveees - (2,476)
Payments on notes payable (9,464) -
Proceeds from issuance of convertible subordinate
Debentures.......cccccovvvivicicinieeeee. - 17,862 25,800
Proceeds from exercise of stock warrants......... ... - 49 -
Reissuance of treasury stock.........cccoeeeeee. L 252 - -
Deferred private offering costs........ccoeeeee. L (125) (407) (1,518)
Net cash provided by financing activities..... ... 9,621 11,740 27,964
NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIV ALENTS... (89) (1,064) 1,824
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year..... ... 786 1,850 26
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year.......... ... $ 697 $ 786 $ 1,850
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HALSEY DRUG CO., INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS -- (CONTINUED )
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31,
(IN THOUSANDS)

Supplemental disclosures of noncash investing erah¢ing activities:
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2000

1. The Company issued 89,638 and 32,000 sharesmhon stock as payment for $252,113 in debentwried interest and $38,000 in tri
payables and legal expenses.

2. The Company issued warrants to purchase 125/@@@s of common stock for the extension of th&®2ZBélen Bridge Loan(s) maturity
dates and recorded $124,750 as deferred privatarise costs. The issuance costs were fully expehsany 2000.

3. The Company issued $1,858,190 of debentureayamgnt for like amounts of debenture accrued istere
4. Debentures of $12,403 were converted into 8sBz4es of the Company's common stock.

5. The Company has paid $1,002,845 of indebtedndbe form of product deliveries.

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 1999

1. The Company issued 321,777 shares of commok atwpayment for $526,779 in accrued interest.

2. The Company issued 26,106 shares of common apkyment for $50,500 in legal fees and 9,84fesha common stock as payment
$24,000 in trade payables.

3. The Company issued approximately 3,608,604 wtgi@ote H) valued and recorded in the aggrega&b#34,000 of unamortized debt
discount and a reduction in the amount of the edlabligation.

4. The Company converted approximately $6,609,00mtes payable and approximately $428,000 of axtiterest on notes payable into
convertible subordinated debentures.

5. The Company converted approximately $939,008cofued interest due from convertible subordindtdgentures into additional
debentures.

6. The Company issued 1,022,284 warrants for fupties valued and recorded as $907,000 in defprieate issuance costs.

7. The Company issued 500,000 warrants to Barr tzboes, Inc. valued and recorded as $350,00¢hoacquisition of certain product
rights.

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 1998
1. The Company issued 262,836 shares of commok atopayment for $593,313 in accrued interest.

2. The Company reissued 20,000 shares of commoh atopayment for $25,000 in legal fees and 20sb@0es of common stock as payment
for $30,000 in trade payables.

3. The Company issued 110,658 shares of commok atpayment of outstanding notes payable in ansafr$214,000 and $1,782 in
accrued interest.

4. The Company issued approximately 5,500,086 wtsr@Note H) valued and recorded in the aggrega®2#63,434 of unamortized debt
discount and a reduction in the amount of the edlatbligation.

The accompanying notes are an integral part obteegements.
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HALSEY DRUG CO., INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2000, 1999 AND 1998

NOTE A -- SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Halsey Drug Co., Inc. (the "Company" or "Halse@'New York corporation established in 1935, andgiitssidiaries, are engaged in the
development, manufacture, sale, and distributiogenferic drugs and active pharmaceutical ingregi@AtP1s"). The Company is an
emerging pharmaceutical company specializing imuative drug development.

A summary of the significant accounting policiemsistently applied in the preparation of the accanying consolidated financial stateme
follows.

1. Principles of Consolidation and Basis of Prestior

The consolidated financial statements include 100%e accounts of the Company and its wholly-owselsidiaries, Blue Cross Products
Co., Inc., Houba, Inc., Halsey Pharmaceuticals, Indiana Fine Chemicals Corporation, Cenci PovRteducts, Inc., H.R. Cenci
Laboratories, Inc., and The Me@um Corporation. Except for Houba, Inc., all of titker subsidiaries are inactive. All material iotampan)
accounts and transactions have been eliminated.

2. Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or etaitost is determined using the first-in, first-owethod.
3. Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cestdecumulated depreciation and amortization. @égdren and amortization are provided
in amounts sufficient to relate the cost of dembla assets to operations over their estimatedcsedives, principally on a straight-line basis.
The estimated lives used in determining depreaiaiod amortization are:

BuilldingsS.....ccoooviiiiiiiiiiiiieeee. 25 years
Machinery and equipment...........cccccvcveeee. L 5-10 years

4. Deferred Debt Discount and Private IssuancesCost

Debt discount resulting from the issuance of stwakrants in connection with the issuance of sulartéid debt (Note H) is recorded as a
reduction of the related obligations and is amedinver the remaining life of the related obligatioDebt discount is determined by a
calculation which is based, in part, by the relafigir values ascribed to such warrants determiryesth independent valuation or
management's use of the Black-Scholes valuatiorembeferred private issuance costs resulting floeissuance of warrants in connection
with the extension of bridge loan maturity dates r@corded as deferred assets and amortized aveertiaining life of the related obligatio

5. Income Taxes

The Company accounts for income taxes under théditiamethod in accordance with Statement of FeiahAccounting Standards ("SFAS")
No. 109, "Accounting for Income Taxes." Under timsthod, deferred tax assets and liabilities arerdehed based on differences betw
financial reporting and tax bases of assets aiditias and are measured using the enacted tas eatd laws that will be in effect when the
differences are expected to reverse.
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HALSEY DRUG CO., INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS -- (CONT INUED)
6. Statements of Cash Flows

For purposes of the statements of cash flows, tiregany considers all highly liquid debt instrumemtschased with an original maturity of
three months or less to be cash equivalents. Thep@oy paid no substantial income taxes for thesyeaded December 31, 2000, 1999 and
1998. In addition, the Company paid interest ofragimately $1,253,000, $720,000 and $1,946,00@eesvely, for the years ended
December 31, 2000, 1999 and 1998.

7. Use of Estimates in Consolidated Financial &tat#s

In preparing consolidated financial statementsoinfarmity with accounting principles generally aptad in the United States of America,
management makes estimates and assumptions thett taié reported amounts of assets and liabiiiesdisclosure of contingent assets and
liabilities at the date of the consolidated finahstatements, as well as the reported amountvehues and expenses during the reporting
period. Actual results could differ from those psites.

8. Research and Development Costs

All research and development costs, including paytmeelated to licensing agreements on productemutelelopment and research
consulting agreements, are expensed when incurred.

9. Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

The Company reviews long-lived assets and certiantifiable intangibles held and used for possifipairment whenever events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the carrying amaofigin asset may not be recoverable . See Note téimpairment charge related to the
write-off of leasehold improvements of the Comparrooklyn, New York Plant.

10. Stock-Based Compensation

The Company has elected to follow Accounting Pples Board Opinion No.

25 ("APB No. 25") "Accounting for Stock Issued tmployees," and related interpretations in accogrfiim its stock options issued to
employees. Under APB No. 25, because the exerdise @f the Company's employee stock options eghalsnarket price of the underlying
stock on the date of grant, no compensation expermseognized. However, Statement of FinancialoArting Standards No. 123 ("SFAS
No. 123"), "Accounting for Sto-Based Compensation," requires presentation ofgrroa net income as if the Company had accounted fo
its employees stock options under the fair valuthoebof that statement.

Equity instruments issued to nonemployees in exghdor goods, fees and services are accountedtaruhe fair value method of SFAS
No. 123.

11. Earnings (Loss) Per Share

The computation of basic earnings (loss) per sbhcemmon stock is based upon the weighted averag#er of common shares
outstanding during the period. Diluted earningsgtere is based on basic earnings per share atifostihe effect of other potentially diluti
securities. Excluded from the 2000, 1999 and 1@898putation are warrants and options outstandinghvwiould be antidilutive.

12. Revenue Recognition

The Company recognizes revenue, net of sales dissamd allowances, when title to product passesstomers. Revenue on contractual
product sales is recognized on the higher of themim amounts required to be purchased or prodinipped.
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HALSEY DRUG CO., INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS -- (CONT INUED)
13. New Accounting Pronouncements

In June 1998, the Financial Accounting Standardsr@dssued Statement of Financial Accounting Stadsddlo. 133 ("SFAS No. 133),
"Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedgihgtivities," which establishes accounting and reéipgrstandards for derivative
instruments and for hedging activities. SFAS N@,1& amended by SFAS No. 138, is effective fofisdhl quarters of fiscal years
beginning after June 15, 2000. The Company doeantatipate that the adoption of the statementhwile a material impact on its financial
statements.

NOTE B -- STRATEGIC ALLIANCE WITH WATSON PHARMACEUT ICALS

On March 29, 2000, the Company completed variawadegiic alliance transactions with Watson Pharmiézas, Inc. ("Watson"). The
transactions with Watson provided for Watson's pase of a certain pending ANDA from the Company Wi@tson's rights to negotiate for
Halsey to manufacture and supply certain identifigdre products to be developed by Halsey, fordtias marketing and sale of the
Company's core products and for Watson's extersdiars17,500,000 term loan to the Company.

The product acquisition portion of the transactiasith Watson provided for Halsey's sale of a pegdMNDA and related rights (the
"Product") to Watson for aggregate consideratioix#,500,000 (the "Product Acquisition Agreemery.part of the execution of the
Product Acquisition Agreement, the Company and \bfaexecuted ten-year supply agreements coveringdiive pharmaceutical ingredient
("API") and finished dosage form of the Productquamt to which Halsey, at Watson's discretion, miéinufacture and supply Watson's
requirements for the Product API and, where th@®bAPI is sourced from the Company, finished desarms of the Product. The
purchase price for the Product is payable in thggoximately equal installments as certain milessoare achieved. The first of such
milestones was achieved in April of 2000, wherdi®y Company received FDA approval and Watson pa&dCitmpany $5,000,000.

The Company and Watson also executed a rightsifrfiggotiation agreement providing Watson withrst fight to negotiate the terms under
which the Company would manufacture and supplyagegpecified APIs and finished dosage productsetdeveloped by the Company. The
right of first negotiation agreement provides thpbn Watson's exercise of its right to negotiatetie supply of a particular product, the
parties will negotiate the specific terms of thenofacturing and supply arrangement, including pna@imum purchase requirements, if a
territory and term. In the event Watson does net@se its right of first negotiation upon recegptvritten notice from the Company as to its
receipt of applicable governmental approval retatma covered product, or in the event the padiesunable to reach agreement on the
material terms of a supply arrangement relatinguich product within sixty days of Watson's exeroisis right to negotiate for such produ
the Company may negotiate with third parties far shpply, marketing and sale of the applicable weadrhe right of first negotiation
agreement has a term of ten years, subject to ggtem the absence of written notice from eithentyfor two additional periods of five yei
each. The right of first negotiation agreement eggpbnly to API and finished dosage products idiextiin the agreement and does not
otherwise prohibit the Company from developing othBls or finished dosage products for itself ardtparties.

The Company and Watson also completed a manufagtarid supply agreement providing for Watson's etarg and sale of the Company's
existing core products portfolio (the "Core Progustipply Agreement"). The Core Products Supply &igrent obligates Watson to purchase
a minimum amount of approximately $18,363,000 (fd@mimum Purchase Amount") in core products frora thbompany, in equal quarterly
installments over a period of 18 months (the "MinimPurchase Period"). At the expiration of the Minm Purchase Period, if Watson does
not continue to satisfy the Minimum Purchase Amothre Company may market and sell the core producits own or through a third par
Pending the Company's development and receipiodatory approval for its APIs and finished dosagaducts currently under
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HALSEY DRUG CO., INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS -- (CONT INUED)

development, including, without limitation, the Bzt sold to Watson, and the marketing and sasaofe, of which there can be no
assurance, substantially all the Company's reveexgesct to be derived from the Core Products Supgheement with Watson.

The final component of the Company's strategiaade with Watson provided for Watson's extensioa $17,500,000 term loan to the
Company. The loan will be funded in installmentsmiphe Company's request for advances and thegiwavio Watson of a supporting use
proceeds relating to each such advance. The Iaetiged by a first lien on all of the Companysets senior to the lien securing all other
Company indebtedness, carries a floating ratetefést equal to prime plus two percent and matomeglarch 31, 2003. As of December 31,
2000, Watson advanced $12,000,000 to the Compaotge (I

NOTE C -- LIQUIDITY MATTERS

At December 31, 2000, the Company had a workingalageficiency of approximately $2,561,000, hadaasumulated deficit of
approximately $88,938,000 and had incurred a lbspproximately $11,654,000 for the year then ended

The net proceeds from the Watson Term Loan havaitied the Company to satisfy its current liab##iand accounts payable. In addition,
management believes that additional proceeds fhenWatson Term Loan combined with the paymentetrebeived by the Company from
Watson under each of the Product Acquisition Agreretnand the Core Products Supply Agreement wiligethe Company with sufficient
working capital to fund operations for at least tlext twelve months. However, any delay in the iptaaf funds from Watson could hamper
the Company's ability to operate.

NOTE D -- CARRYING AMOUNT AND FAIR VALUE OF FINANCI AL INSTRUMENTS

The carrying amount of cash and cash equivaleotsuats receivable and accounts payable approxinfaitevalue due to the short-term
maturities of the instruments. The fair value & @ompany's long-term and short-term debt canndebermined without incurring excessive
costs.

NOTE E -- INVENTORIES
Inventories consist of the following:

DECEMBER 31,

2000 1999

(IN THOUSANDS)
Finished goods........cccooeeviiiiniiieeee. $ 225 $ 725
WOrK-iN-proCess......ccocveevniuieeeiniieeeaeeee 1,146 720
Raw materials...........ccocoovvviviiiiiv. L 1,398 2,057
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NOTE F -- PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Property, plant and equipment are summarized &sifsi

DECEMBER 31,

2000 1999

(IN THOUSANDS)
Machinery and equipment.........ccccoceevcveeeee. L $11,411 $12,806
Construction in progresS.....ccceveeeeeeeveveeeeeee 2,694 87
Leasehold improvementS.......cccccceeevevvvvceceeee L 106 82
Building and building improvements.................. ... 1,000 990
Land....ooooiiiiii e 44 44

15,255 14,009
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization..... ... 9,923 10,996

$5,332 $3,013

Depreciation and amortization expense for the yeaded December 31, 2000, 1999 and 1998 was apmaely $643,000, $914,000 and
$1,113,000, respectively.

NOTE G -- ACCRUED EXPENSES
Accrued expenses are summarized as follows:

DECEMBER 31,

2000 1999

(IN THOUSANDS)
Payroll taxes payable.........cccccvvvvveeeeee. L - $1,503
ReNt...co - 1,454
INEEIESt. i $1,041 764
Accrued payroll.......cccccevvcieiiiiieee 323 736
Professional fees........ccoccvvvvcvcvvcceeeee. L 195 362
Deferred product obligation...........ccccocoeeeee. L 2,846 -
(@1 =Y ORI 1,484 958

At December 31, 1999, payroll taxes payable induaigproximately $1,467,000 and $31,000 of delingpesroll taxes (including penalties
and interest) due to the Internal Revenue Servidetlze State of New York, respectively, all of whli@bility was incurred in 1997 and 1996.
Pursuant to an NOL carryback claim, the Companyiegpo the IRS for a refund of past taxes paidribythe year, the Company settled all
claims owed to the IRS for delinquent payroll tares of any amounts due to the Company for NOLyteek claims. The claims resulted in
$723,534 of back taxes paid to be credited to thmgany, of which $334,838 was refunded in Janu@fi 2
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HALSEY DRUG CO., INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
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NOTE H -- CONVERTIBLE SUBORDINATED DEBENTURES AND S TOCK WARRANTS

At December 31, 2000 and 1999 convertible subotdihdebentures outstanding and related debt discelated to the following issuances
are discussed below:

DECEMBER 31,

2000 1999
ISSUANCE OF DEBENTURES (IN THOUSANDS)
Debentures -- August 1996(a)........ccccceevveeeeee $2,500 $2,500
Debentures -- March 1998(b)......ccccvvvveveeeee. L 20,790 20,800
Debentures -- issued in lieu of interest for March
1998(D).cciiieiiiii e 1,587 667
Debentures -- June 1998(C)......ccccovvveveveeeeenes L 4,998 5,000
Debentures -- issued in lieu of interest for June
1998(C)evveiiiieiiie e 378 158
Debentures -- May 1999(d) and (€)......cccooveeeeee L. 12,862 12,862
Debentures -- issued in lieu of interest for May 19 99(d)
= g o I (=) T 642 114
Debentures -- July 1999(d) and (€)...c.ccecoveeeeee L 5,000 5,000
Debentures -- issued in lieu of interest for July 1 999(d)
= g o I (=) T 189
48,946 47,101
Less: Debt discount......ccccceevvcveeeeneeee L (4,167) (6,005)

$44,779 $41,096

(@) On August 6, 1996, the Company issued 250 ,watit10,000 per unit, in a private placementobécurities ("August Private
Placement"). Each unit consisted of: (i) a 10% eotible subordinated debenture due August 6, 20@he principal amount of $10,000,
interest payable quarterly, and convertible intarsk of the Company's common stock at a convepsioa of $3.25 per share, subject to
dilution, and (ii) 461 redeemable common stock pase warrants ("warrants"). Each warrant entithexdholder to purchase one share of
common stock for $3.25, subject to adjustment dyitie five-year period commencing August 6, 1996.

(b) On March 10, 1998, the Company completed aapeivffering (the "Galen Offering") of securiti@san investor group ("Galen”)
consisting of 5% convertible senior secured delrestdue March 15, 2003, and common stock purchasamts (with a seven-year life)
exercisable for 2,244,667 shares of the Compayson stock at an exercise price of $1.404 andd2518 shares at an exercise price of
$2.279. The debentures are convertible into stafriiee Company's common stock at a conversion @fidd.404. The net proceeds to the
Company from the Offering, after the deductionedted offering expenses of $1,518,000 for legdliamestment banker fees, was
approximately $19,300,000. These related offerimgfare being amortized over the remaining fivarjiée of the related debentures.

(c) In June of 1998, Galen invested an additio®ad®0,000 in the Company in exchange for debentmdsvarrants having terms identica
those issued in the Galen Offering (539,583 and®&2Z%common stock purchase warrants with an exepsise of $1.404 and $2.279,
respectively).

(d) On May 26, 1999, the Company consummated afivffering of securities for an aggregate puretmie of up to $22,800,000 (the
"Oracle Offering"). The securities issued in the€e Offering consisted of 5% convertible seniaused debentures (the "1999 Debentur
and common stock purchase warrants (the "1999 \Wat?)aeach of which are substantially similarhe tiebentures and warrants issued by
the Company in the Galen Offering completed in Mad998. Of the $22,800,000 to be invested pursieettite Oracle Offering, $5,000,000
was funded by Oracle Strategic Partners, L.P. ¢@raon May 26, 1999, the closing date of the @r&affering, with an additional
$10,000,000 to be funded by Oracle in two instafita®f $5,000,000 each. The first $5,000,000 iimtait of the additional $10,000,000
Oracle investment was
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funded on July 27, 1999. Pursuant to an agreersached between the Company and Oracle on Marc2020, the final $5,000,000
investment has been waived.

The 1999 Debentures were issued at par and witiraeaddue and payable as to principal on March 183 28pproximately $12,800,000 in
principal amount of the 1999 Debentures were issuelllay 26, 1999. Interest on the principal of 1889 Debentures is accrued at the rate
of 5% per annum and is payable on a quarterly basis

The 1999 Debentures are convertible into sharédseo€ompany's common stock at a conversion pri&i @04 per share, for an aggregat
up to approximately 12,678,063 shares of the Colpaommon stock. The 1999 Warrants are exercigabkn aggregate of approximately
4,618,702 shares of the Company's common stocku€f warrants, 2,309,351 warrants are exercisal§it.404 per share and the remaining
2,309,351 warrants are exercisable at $2.279 @eesfihe 1999 Debentures and 1999 Warrants areeddiig and exercisable, respectively,
for an aggregate of approximately 17,296,765 shafrése Company's common stock.

(e) Approximately $7,037,000 of the 1999 Debentisssed pursuant to the Oracle Offering were issu@xchange for the surrender of a
like amount of principal and accrued interest ariding under the Company's convertible promissotgsiissued pursuant to various bridge
loan transactions with Galen Partners Ill, L.P.leB&Partners International Ill, L.P., Galen Empleyaund IIl, L.P. (collectively, "Galen") at
certain other investors in the aggregate amouf16f104,110 during the period from August 1998 tigfoand including May 1999 (the
"1999 Galen Bridge Loans"). In exchange for Galed ather investors granting extensions on matuldties of the Company's convertible
promissory notes, the Company issued 1,022,284 aanstock purchase warrants at exercise pricesnmgrighm $1.18 to $2.32. These
warrants resulted in deferred private offering sasghich are being amortized over the remaining-figar life of the related obligations. All
amounts outstanding under the Galen Bridge Loams vepaid in 2000.

(f) In connection with certain 1995 amendments lio@ of credit agreement then existing with a hahk Company issued stock warrants to
the bank, which expired July 17, 2000, to purctsses of the Company's common stock at variousisreprices per share, subject to
certain antidilution provisions. At December 31999the number of common stock warrants, as adjustgual 955,509 shares at exercise
prices ranging from $1.48 to $1.51 per share. Imdd.998, the Company completely satisfied its badkbtedness and terminated the line
of credit agreement.

Debt discount resulting from the issuance of stwakrants in connection with the issuance of sulmartéid debt is recorded as a reduction of
the related obligations at the warrants relativevialue and is amortized as additional expense thesremaining life of the related
obligations. At December 31, 2000 outstanding wagrgiving rise to debt discount for related debess are as follows:

ACCUMULATED UNAMORTIZED

WARRANTS AMORTIZATION  DEBT
RELATED TO NUMBER ORIGI NAL AT  DISCOUNT AT REMAINING
DEBENTURES  EXERCISE OF DEB T DECEMBER 31, DECEMBER 31, LIFE
ABOVE PRICES WARRANTS DISCO UNT 2000 2000  (MONTHS)
(IN THOUSANDS)

@ $ 325 115250 $ 3 55  $ 308 $ 47 8

(b)  $1.404 and $2.279 4,434,178 2,2 63 1,245 1,018 27

(c)  $1.404 and $2.279 1,065,908 1,2 00 497 703 34

(d)  $1.404 and $2.279 3,608,604 4,0 34 1,635 2,399 27

(H $ 1.48t0$1.51 955509 2 00 200 - -

10,179,449 $8,0 52 $3,885 $4,167

F-14



HALSEY DRUG CO., INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS -- (CONT INUED)

At December 31, 2000 outstanding warrants givieg to deferred private offering costs are as faltow

ORIGI NAL ACCUMULATED UNAMORTIZED
DEFER RED AMORTIZATION PRIVATE
NUMBER PRIVA TE AT ISSUANCE COSTS REMA INING
EXERCISE OF ISSUA NCE DECEMBER 31, AT DECEMBER 31, LI FE
WARRANTS PRICES WARRANTS COST S 2000 2000 (MON THS)

(IN THOUSANDS)
() $ 1.18t0$2.32 1,022,284 $ 9 07 $ 363 $ 544 3 6

NOTE | -- NOTES PAYABLE
At December 31, 2000 and 1999, notes payable dedsis$ the following:

DECEMBER 31,

(IN THOUSANDS)
Unsecured promissory demand notes(a)............... . ... $1,844 $2,529
Bridge Loans(b).....cccocvveiiiiiiiiiiiees - 1,509

Term note payable(C).....ccevvvvvmvvvevcveveeee $12,000 $ --

(a) At December 31, 2000, unsecured promissory ddmates consisted of $1,376,000 due to Mylan, R@@unsecured promissory
demand notes due to Wastson and $68,000 due tonafemployee. During the period from May 1997 tigio June 1997, the Company
borrowed approximately $3 million from Mylan Labtwées, Inc. ("Mylan™) pursuant to five unsecurddmand promissory notes. The
advances made by Mylan Laboratories, Inc. wereqdatproposed investment by Mylan in the Compamgiuding the proposed purchase of
the Company's Indiana facility as well as a patgader offer for the Company's common stock. Tie,dbl,624,000 has been paid by the
Company to Mylan against such indebtedness indtra bf product deliveries to Mylan. Pursuant tcegmeement reached between the
parties, the Company is required to satisfy inteseghe outstanding indebtedness on an annua bdisie the indebtedness remains
outstanding and to satisfy the principal amourgwth indebtedness in the form of product deliveloedylan until such time as the
indebtedness is satisfied in full.

(b) In addition to the 1999 Galen Bridge Loans d&sed in Note H, the Company secured bridge fimgnitom Galen in order to provide
necessary working capital prior to the completibthe Watson Term Loan as described in Note B. &ie&lge loans aggregated
approximately $3,300,000 and were funded througisegparate bridge loan transactions during thegddrom December 8, 1999 through
March 29, 2000 (collectively, the "2000 Galen Bedgoans"). At December 31, 1999, $1,509,000 rejaiinsuch bridge loans was
outstanding. On March 31, 2000, the total princgrabunt of the 2000 Galen Bridge Loans and accanedunpaid interest were satisfied in
full with a portion of the proceeds of the Watsar. Prior to repayment, the 2000 Galen Bridge kasatrued interest at the rate of 18%
annum and were secured by a first lien on all ef@ompany's assets. In consideration for the extens the 2000 Galen Bridge Loans, the
Company issued common stock purchase warrantslem@apurchase an aggregate of 125,000 sharég @¢ampany's common stock. All
amounts outstanding under the 1999 and 2000 Gaidgd3Loans were repaid in 2000.

The warrants issued pursuant to the 2000 GalergBiighans have an exercise price equal to the faiket value of the Company's common
stock on the date of issuance and are substantiaihtical to those issued by the Company in thecterOffering (Note H).
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(c) In connection with various strategic allian@ntactions, Watson Pharmaceuticals advanced $12@Dto the Company under a term
loan. The loan is secured by a first lien on allhgf Company's assets, senior to the lien secatiriher Company indebtedness, and carri
floating rate of interest equal to prime plus tveygent and matures on March 31, 2003.

NOTE J -- INCOME TAXES
Reconciliations between the Federal income taxaatethe Company's effective income tax rate weifeliows:

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31,

2000 1999 1998
AMOUN %  AMOUNT %  AMOUNT %
(DOLLARS IN THOUSANDS
Federal statutory rate............... $(4,095) ( 34.0)% $(6,116) (34.0)% $(4,326) (34.0)%
Loss for which no tax benefit was
4,045 33.6 5997 338 4,247 338
......... (389) (3.4)
Department of Justice settlement..... 26 2 31 A 42 1
24 2 88 A 37 A
$ (389 B34 $ - -% $ - --%

The Company has net operating loss carryforwardsegting approximately $73,549,425, expiring dyitine years 2011 through 2020. In
addition, certain of the Company's subsidiariesdféeparate Federal income tax returns in priaisyaad have separate net operating loss
carryforwards aggregating approximately $5,296,88%iring during the years 2001 through 2018.

The tax loss carryforwards of the Company andubsgliaries are subject to limitation by Sectior2 88 the Internal Revenue Code with
respect to the amount utilizable each year. Th#dition reduces the Company's ability to utiliz¢ aperating loss carryforwards included
above each year. The amount of the limitation labaen quantified by the Company.
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The components of the Company's deferred tax a@isgtiities), pursuant to SFAS No. 109, are surmrized as follows:

DECEMBER 31,

(IN THOUSANDS)

Deferred tax assets

Net operating loss carryforwards........ccc...... .. $33,805 $27,349

Allowance for doubtful accounts..........ccoee... .. 133 50
Research and development tax credit............... ... 212 212
Reserve forinventory........ccccoovvvvcvccceeees L 235 218
Reserve for chargebacks..........cccooeeeeeeeee. Ll 105 21
Shutdown COSES....covvniiiiiiiiiiiee e 780 1,352
Severance package......cccccoovevvniiiicciiieeee 45 242
Litigation settlement..........ccccovveeeee. L 135 44
ReNt..coiii - 44
Reserve for Medicaid.........cccoovvvevvceeeeee. Ll 37 93
Capital loss carryforwards... 210 210
Reserve for contingencies............... . - 14
Charitable contribution carryforwards............ 6 1
Other. .o 49 26
Gross deferred tax assets.......cccooceveeeee. L 35,752 29,876
Deferred tax liabilities
Depreciation........ccoovvvvivviieiiineneees (559) (430)
Other. e (42) (42)
(601) (472)
Net deferred tax assets before valuation allow ance..... 35,151 29,404

Valuation allowance

(35,151) (29,404)

Net deferred tax assets...........ccccvvveeee

SFAS No. 109 requires a valuation allowance agalefdrred tax assets if, based on the weight afabta evidence, it is more likely than r
that some or all of the deferred tax assets map@aoealized. The valuation allowance at DecemlePB00 primarily pertains to
uncertainties with respect to future utilizationnet operating loss carryforwards.

NOTE K -- CESSATION AND RELOCATION OF BROOKLYN, NEW YORK PLANT OPERATIONS

The Company's formal decision to discontinue itsd&kfyn operations was initiated in the fourth qeadf 1999 with notification to its union.
The total charge of approximately $3,220,000 résyifirom eliminating the Brooklyn operation incliglthe lease termination payment of
$1,150,000, a provision of $200,000 for plant repahe write-off of leasehold improvements of ¥B,000, severance and other costs for
terminated employees of $730,000, less deferredpreniously expensed of $638,000.

At December 31, 1999 the Company was obligatedyorent through December 31, 2005 pursuant to aarmellable lease obligation for its
facility in Brooklyn, New York. Under a terminatiaand settlement agreement consummated on Marc0BB, (the "Settlement
Agreement"), in exchange for a termination paynoil,150,000, the termination of the lease has lageelerated to August 31, 2000. The
total base rent payments that would have beennesjfiom September 1, 2000 to December 31, 2008 we
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approximately $6,715,000. The agreement does d@ievCompany to continue to lease the facility belydngust 31, 2000, but requires the
Company to vacate the premises no later than MaitcR001, which is the date the Company will vath&Brooklyn facility. In addition, tt
Settlement agreement provides for the advance patyofieent through August 31, 2000 and a restonatiscrow deposit of $200,000 for pl
repairs. The Company also deposited in escrow igittounsel $390,600 which represents rental pajsrfenthe period September 1, 2000
through March 31, 2001. The Company funded theiteation fee payment, the advance rental paymelgatibns and restoration amount
required pursuant to the Settlement Agreement thigghproceeds received from the Watson Term Loane([Bd.

At December 31, 2000, the Company recorded a chargpproximately $53,000 representing additioealesance costs.
NOTE L -- SALE AND ACQUISITION OF ABBREVIATED NEW D RUG APPLICATIONS ("ANDA")
Sale of ANDA

On March 21, 1995, the Company sold its ANDA forgoixycodone HCL/325mg Acetaminophen Tablets ("Tab)eand certain equipment
used in the production of the tablets. Pursuaitieaagreement, the Company recognized the findilgmoof the gain, $1,900,000, as other
income in March 1998.

Acquisition of Barr Laboratories, Inc. ANDA

On April 16, 1999, the Company completed an actjoisagreement with Barr Laboratories, Inc. ("Baptoviding for the Company's
purchase of the rights to 50 pharmaceutical prad({ibe "Barr Products"). Under the terms of theu@ition agreement with Barr, the
Company acquired all of Barr's rights in the BanwdRicts, including all related governmental appteymcluding ANDAS) and related
technical data and information. In considerationtfie acquisition of the Barr Products, the Compiaayed to Barr a common stock purchase
warrant exercisable for 500,000 shares of the Coyipa@ommon stock having an exercise price of $5Q&r share (the fair value of the
Common Stock on the date of issuance) and havtagraof five years. The Company valued the warrab®350,000 using the Black
Scholes option pricing model. Accordingly, the Ca@mp recorded a deferred charge to be amortized agense to the Company's
operations over a ten-year period which is thevestd life of the related ANDA. The acquisition @gment with Barr also allows Barr to
purchase any of the Barr Products manufacturetidy¥"ompany for a period of five years.

NOTE M -- COMMERCIALIZATION AND LICENSE AGREEMENT

Effective September 27, 2000, the Company enteredain exclusive license for certain patented teldygy owned by Bio-Fine
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. for the synthesis of codfimm morphine. The agreement provided for a fixetbant of $3,175,000 to be paid out as
certain milestones are achieved with a total ofd$300 paid as of December 31, 2000. The agreenwmmpeovided for the grant of 50,000
warrants and an employment agreement, both comting®n FDA approval and first commercial sale,chhias not yet occurred.

NOTE N -- PENSION EXPENSE
1. Management Pension Plan

The Company had maintained a defined benefit ptaering substantially all nonunion employees whigts terminated in November 1996.
Subsequently, all Plan assets were converted toaras held in a money market fund (to continueTthest) from which all vested participant
interests were to be paid. In 1998, the Compangived approval to terminate the Plan by the PerBamefit Guarantee Corporation, all
assets
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were distributed to the vested participants, thesfwas terminated and a final filing was made whth Internal Revenue Service.
2. Employees' Pension Plan

The Company contributed approximately $55,512, 67 and $421,000, in 2000, 1999 and 1998, resgdytito a multiemployer pension
plan for employees covered by collective bargairiggeements. This plan is not administered by th@gany and contributions are
determined in accordance with provisions of negetidabor contracts. Information with respect te @ompany's proportionate share of the
excess, if any, of the actuarially computed valfieested benefits over the total of the pensiom’plaet assets is not available from the plan's
administrator.

The Multiemployer Pension Plan Amendments Act @@ &he "Act") significantly increased the pensiesponsibilities of participating
employers. Under the provision of the Act, if tHans terminate or the Company withdraws, the Comganld be subject to a "withdrawal
liability."

3. 401(k) and Profit-sharing Plan

Effective October 1, 1998, the Company establishd@1(k) and profit-sharing plan for all employedéser than those covered under
collective bargaining agreements. Eligible emplayaay elect to make a basic contribution of up.884lof their annual earnings. The plan
provides that the Company can make discretionatgmray contributions equal to 25% of the first 6%employee contributions for an
aggregate employee contribution of 1.5%, along witliscretionary profit-sharing contribution. Theripany's expense under the plan was
$0 in 2000, 1999, and 1998, respectively.

NOTE O -- STOCK OPTION PLAN

In June 1998, the stockholders of the Company aprthe adoption of a stock option and restrictedkspurchase plan (the "1998 Option
Plan"). The 1998 Option Plan provides for the granof (i) nonqualified options to purchase the Qamy's common stock at not less than
the fair market value on the date of the optiomgeand (ii) incentive stock options to purchase@enpany's common stock at not less than
the fair market value on the date of the optiomgrAs of December 31, 2000, there was no exedfis@y options to purchase any common
stock under the 1998 Option Plan. The total nunolbshares which may be sold pursuant to optionsriginds granted under the 1998 Option
Plan is 3,600,000, which vest over four years aakla ten-year life. No option can be granted utited 998 Option Plan after April 2008
and no option can be outstanding for more tharyéams after its grant.

The Company has adopted the disclosure provisib8satement of Financial Accounting Standards N&R ('SFAS No. 123"), "Accounting
for Stock-Based Compensation.” It applies APB QgiriNo. 25, "Accounting for Stock Issued to Emplaye@and related interpretations in
accounting for its plans and does not recognizepsmrsation expense for its stock-based compengaltios. If the Company had elected to
recognize compensation expense based upon theafa& at the grant date for awards under thesesplan
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consistent with the methodology prescribed by SIN85123, the Company's net income and earningshaee would be reduced to the pro

forma amounts indicated below:

Net loss
As reported.........cooceieieiiiiiie e
Pro forma.......cccoooiiiiiiiin
Loss per share
As reported
Pro forma......

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31,

2000 1999 1998

(THOUSANDS, EXCEPT PER SHARE AMOUNTS)

$(11,654) $(20,063) $(12,724)
(13,753)  (20,954)  (13,663)

$ (80) $ (1.40) $ (.92)
(95)  (1.46) (.98)

These pro forma amounts may not be representdtifigume disclosures because they do not takeeffert pro forma compensation exper
related to grants made before 1995. The fair vafibese options was estimated at the date of giging the Black-Scholes option-pricing
model with the following weighted average assumifor the years ended December 31, 2000, 1999998, respectively: expected

volatility of 73%, 73% and 67%; risk-free intereates of 7.0%, 6.8% and 5.6%; and expected livd®agfears, 10 years and 10 years. At the

date of grant, all exercise prices equaled the etar&due of the stock.

Transactions involving stock options are summareetllows:

Balance at December 31, 1997
Granted.........ocooevvvviiiiiiieeeee,
Forfeited

Balance at December 31, 1998
Granted..........ccoecviviiiiiiieeeee,
Forfeited

Balance at December 31, 1999
Granted..........oooecvviiiiiiiieeeee,
Forfeited

Balance at December 31, 2000

WEIGHTED WEIGHTED

STOCK  AVERAGE AVERAGE
OPTIONS EXERCISE  FAIR
OUTSTANDING PRICE  VALUE
481,739  $3.60

2,254,850 2.37  $1.71
(511,303) 3.16

2225286  2.46

503,500  1.19 .80
(118,567) 3.08

2610219  2.19

2,262,000 150  1.38
(350,902) 2.04

4521317  1.86

The following table summarizes information concegncurrently outstanding and exercisable stockoogti

OPTIONS OUTSTANDING

OPTIONS EXERCISABLE

WEIGHTED
AVERAGE
REMAINING

NUMBER
OUTSTANDING AT

RANGES OF DECEMBER 31, CONTRACTUAL
EXERCISE PRICES 2000 LIFE (YEARS)
$.64-%$2.00 2,397,700 9.21
2.01- 3.00 2,070,350 7.45
3.01- 4.38 53,267 4.25

4,521,317
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WEIGHTED NUMBER WEIGHTED
AVERAGE EXERCISABLE AT AVERAGE

EXERCISE DECEMBER 31, EXERCISE
PRICE 2000 PRICE
$1.35 220,675 $1.35
2.40 1,328,925 2.39
3.56 53,267 3.56
1,602,867



HALSEY DRUG CO., INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS -- (CONT INUED)
NOTE P -- COMMITMENTS

The Company occupies plant and office facilitiedemnoncancellable operating leases which expideliy12004. These operating leases
provide for scheduled base rent increases ovdetheof the lease; however, the total amount obime rent payments will be charged to
operations using the straigltie method over the term of the lease. The lepe@dde for payment of real estate taxes based agmercentac
of the annual increase. In addition, the Companjsreertain equipment under operating leases, giynéor terms of four years. Total rent
expense for the years ended December 31, 2000,ar3P2998 was approximately $1,517,000, $1,57420@0%1,243,000, respectively.

Lease of Congers, New York Facility (Brenner Drivdocation)

Effective March 22, 1999, the Company leased, ksteoant, a pharmaceutical manufacturing facitisated in Congers, New York (the
"Brenner Drive Facility") from Par Pharmaceuticdis;. ("Par") pursuant to an Agreement to Lease (tiease"). The Brenner Drive Facility
contains office, warehouse and manufacturing spadds approximately 35,000 square feet. The Lpesades for a term of three years,

with a two-year renewal option, and provides fonaad fixed rent of $500,000 per year during thengriy term of the Lease and $600,000 per
year during the option period. The Lease also swertain manufacturing and related equipment pusly used by Par in its operations

the Brenner Drive Facility (the "Leased Equipmeniti)connection with the execution of the Lease,@ompany and Par entered into a
certain Option Agreement pursuant to which the Camypmay purchase the Brenner Drive Facility and #ssed Equipment at any time
during the lease term for $5,000,000.

As part of the execution of the Lease, the CompartyPar entered into a certain Manufacturing ampyuAgreement (the "M&S
Agreement") having a minimum term of twenty-sevesnths. The M&S Agreement provides for the Compaagtgract manufacture of
certain designated products manufactured by PlaedBrenner Drive Facility prior to the effectivatd of the Lease. The M&S Agreement
also provides that Par will purchase a minimumXfi$0,000 in product during the initial eighteenntls of the Agreement. The M&S
Agreement further provides that the Company witl manufacture, supply, develop or distribute theigleated products to be supplied by the
Company to Par under the M&S Agreement to or for ather person for a period of three years.

Lease of Congers, New York Facility (Wells Avenueotation)

Effective July 1, 2000, the Company leased, astenlant, a facility located at 125 Wells Avenuen@ers, New York (the "Wells Avenue
Facility"). The Wells Avenue Facility contains afi, warehouse and manufacturing space and is dapmatety 18,000 square feet. The lease
provides for a term of four years with an optiomreaew for an additional three years and providesihnual fixed rent of approximately
$127,000 per year during the first two years ofldzse and approximately $135,000 per year duhiadast two years.

As of December 31, 2000, the approximate minimumtalecommitments under these operating leasessdialaws:

(IN THOUSANDS)

Twelve months ending December 31,




HALSEY DRUG CO., INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS -- (CONT INUED)
Employment Contracts

During March 1998, the Company entered into empkayhtontracts with each of two new officers/ emples of the Company which cove
five-year and a three-year period, respectivelye @bntracts provide for, among other things:

(i) annual salaries of $175,000 and $140,000 tpaie over the five-year and three-year periodpeesvely, and (ii) an aggregate of
1,300,000 options (included in the 1998 granfdete O) to purchase the Company's stock at arciseegprice of $2.38 per common share
vest evenly over a three-to-five-year service gkend expire in ten years. In April 2000, thesetiamts were extended to April 30, 2005.

NOTE Q -- CONTINGENCIES
Department of Justice ("DOJ") Settlement

On June 21, 1993, the Company entered into a Rieeefnent with the DOJ to resolve the DOJ's invasitig into the manufacturing and
record keeping practices of the Company's Brooklamt. The Plea Agreement required the Companwyoagine of $2,500,000 over five
years in quarterly installments of $125,000, comairenon or about September 15, 19

As of February 28, 1998, the Company was in defafuthe payment terms of the Plea Agreement anchiede payments aggregating
$350,000. On March 27, 1998, the Company and thé §i§hed the Letter Agreement serving to amendPtba Agreement relating to the
terms of the Company's satisfaction of the finesssd under the Plea Agreement. Specifically, #ieet. Agreement provided that the
Company will satisfy the remaining $2,150,000 & fime through the payment of $25,000 on a mortthlsis commencing June 1, 1998, plus
interest on such outstanding balance (at the edteilated pursuant to 28 U.S.C. Section 1961)(atly&.319%). Such payment schedule
result in the full satisfaction of the DOJ fineDecember 2005. The Letter Agreement also providesia restrictions on the payment of
salary or compensation to any individual in exa&s8150,000 without the written consent of the DdJaddition, the Letter Agreement
requires the repayment of the outstanding findnéoetxtent of 25% of the Company's after-tax pafithe remaining balance owed and 25%
of the net proceeds received by the Company orsaleyof a capital asset for a sum in excess o000 At December 31, 2000, the
Company is current in its payment obligations veittemaining obligation of $1,375,000.

Other Legal Proceedings

Beginning in 1992, actions were commenced agaiesCompany and numerous other pharmaceutical manuéss in the Pennsylvania
Court of Common Pleas, Philadelphia Division, imection with the alleged exposure to diethylsttba ("DES"). The defense of all of
such matters was assumed by the Company's insucander, and a substantial number have been ddiyi¢he carrier. Currently, several
actions remain pending with the Company as a defenadnd the insurance carrier is defending eattbraSimilar actions were brought in
Ohio, and have been dismissed based on Ohio laevCBmpany and its legal counsel do not believeddisych actions will have a material
impact on the Company's financial condition. Thémate outcome of these lawsuits cannot be detemind this time, and accordingly, no
adjustment has been made to the consolidated fadastatements.

The Company has been named as a defendant in dit@@al action which has been referred to the Camyfs carrier and has been accepted
for defense. This action, Alonzo v. Halsey Drug,@ac. and K-Mart Corp. was commenced on Novembd®985 and involves a claim for
unspecified damages relating to the alleged ingestf "Doxycycline 100." The ultimate outcome oése lawsuits cannot be determined at
this time, and accordingly, no adjustment has lmeade to the consolidated financial statements.
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HALSEY DRUG CO., INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS -- (CONT INUED)
NOTE R -- SIGNIFICANT CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The Company sells its products to customers wheamearily drug distributors, drugstore chains avttblesalers and are not concentrated in
any specific region. The Company performs ongoireglit evaluations of its customers and generallgsdwot require collateral. During 2000,
the Company had net sales to one customer in erfd€86 of total sales aggregating to 58.5% oflteddes. During 1999, the Company had
net sales to one customer in excess of 10% of $atak, aggregating 16.3% of total sales. Durir@81the Company had net sales to one
customer in excess of 10% of total sales, accogritin17.6% of total sales.

During 2000 and 1999, the Company purchased appedgly $1,485,000 and $1,107,000 respectivelptsafiw materials, representing
approximately 28% and 15%, respectively, of taa@l material purchases from one supplier.

NOTE S -- QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA (UNAUDITED)

Quarterly Financial Data (amounts in thousands exqet per share amounts)

1ST 2ND 3RD ATH
QUARTER QUARTER QUARTER QUARTER YEAR
2000
Total product revenues................ $3,151 $9,066 $4,686 $3,320 $20,223
Operating income (l0ss)............... (2,585) 2,140 (2,474) (3,683) (6,602)
Net income (l0SS).......cccovcuveeenn. (4,082) 945  (4,124) (4,393) (11,654)
Earnings (loss) per share -- basic and
diluted......ccooevvviiiiniennn. $ (.28) $ .07 $(28) $ (.30) $ (.80)
1999
Total product revenues................ $ 3,224 $2,567 $2,468 $3,161 $11,420
Operating income (l0SS)............... (2,421) (3,091) (3,669) (6,393) (15,574)
Net income (l0SS).......cccoveuveeenn. (3,282) (4,010) (4,672) (8,099) (20,063)
Earnings (loss) per share -- basic and
diluted.......cooevviiiniiene. $ (.23) $ (.28) $ (.33) $ (.56) $ (1.40)
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Exhibit 23.1
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS

We have issued our report dated February 16, 28&bmpanying the consolidated financial statemiestaded in the Annual Report of
Halsey Drug Co., Inc. on Form 30for the year ended December 31, 2000. We herehgent to the incorporation by reference of sgbrt
in the Registration Statement of Halsey Drug Qwmc, bn Form S-8 (File No. 33-98396, effective Oetob9, 1995).

/sl GRANT THORNTON LLP

GRANT THORNTON LLP

New Yor k, New Yor k
March 31, 2001

30
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